
 
 

Notice of Meetings and Agendas for the Joint Meeting of 
the Board of Directors and of the Executive Committees of 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool and 
the Board of Trustees of 

Public Agency Compensation Trust 
Place:  John Ascuaga’s Nugget,  

Sparks, Nevada 
 

Date:  April 26, 2012 Time:  1:30 p.m.   
 

Date:  April 27, 2012 Time:  8:00 a.m. 
 

JOINT BOARDS and EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES’ AGENDA  
 

April 26, 2012 
Notices: 
1. Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; 
2. Two or more items on the agenda may be combined for consideration 
3. Any item on the agenda may be removed or discussion may be delayed at any time 
4. The general Public Comment periods are limited to those items not listed on the agenda.  Public 
Comment periods are devoted to comments by the general public, if any, and may include 
discussion of those comments; however, no action make be taken upon a matter raised under Public 
Comments until the matter itself has been included specifically on an agenda as an item upon which 
action may be taken.  
5. At the discretion of the Chair of the meeting, public comments on specific agenda items may be 
allowed, but must be limited to the specific agenda item. 
 

 
Board Governance Workshops 

 
1:30 p.m. – 3:00 p.m.  Disaster Recovery Before the Disaster (Brian Foote, Belfor) 
   
3:00 p.m. – 3:15 p.m. Break 
 
3:15 p.m.- 4:30 p.m.  County Reinsurance, Ltd. Enterprise Risk Management Responding to Crisis 
(Phil Bell, Executive Director, CRL) 
 
5:30 p.m. – 6:15 p.m. Board Attitude Assessment and Entertainment 
 
6:15 p.m. – 9:30 p.m.  Dinner and POOL’s 25th Anniversary Celebration 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone  (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  



 
JOINT BOARDS and EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES’ AGENDA 

  
April 27, 2012 

Notices: 
1. Items on the agenda may be taken out of order; 
2. Two or more items on the agenda may be combined for consideration 
3. Any item on the agenda may be removed or discussion may be delayed at any time 
4. The general Public Comment periods are limited to those items not listed on the agenda.  Public 
Comment periods are devoted to comments by the general public, if any, and may include 
discussion of those comments; however, no action make be taken upon a matter raised under Public 
Comments until the matter itself has been included specifically on an agenda as an item upon which 
action may be taken.  
5. At the discretion of the Chair of the meeting, public comments on specific agenda items may be 
allowed, but must be limited to the specific agenda item. 
 
1. Introductions and Roll 
 
2. Public Comment 
 
3. For Possible Action:  Acceptance of Investment Advisor’s Report and Action on 

Recommendations 
 
4.  For Possible Action: Review of Investment Policies and Procedures 
 a. PACT Investment Guidelines 
 b. POOL Investment Guidelines 
 c. Money Management Controls Procedure 
 
5. For Possible Action:  Consent Agenda: Approve as a Whole Unless Moved From Consent 

Agenda 
• Approval of Minutes of Board: 

Joint Board Meeting April 28 & 29, 2011 
• Acceptance of Minutes of Committee Meetings 

Joint Executive Committee Meeting of March 16, 2012 
Joint Executive Committee Meeting of August 23, 2011 
Audit Committee Meeting of January 17, 2012 
Audit Committee Meeting of December 29, 2011 
Human Resources Oversight Committee Meeting of March 23, 2012  
Human Resources Oversight Committee Meeting of December 16, 2011 
Human Resources Oversight Committee Meeting of September 16, 2011  
Human Resources Oversight Committee Meeting of June 17, 2011 
Loss Control Committee Meeting of March 8, 2012 
Loss Control Committee Meeting of January 24, 2012 
Loss Control Committee Meeting of July 22, 2011 
Loss Control Committee Meeting of June 21, 2011 

 
6.  For Possible Action: Acceptance of Reports: 

o Board Retreat Report 
o Strategic Plan Progress Report 
o Executive Director’s Report 



  
7. For Possible Action:  Loss Control Committee 
 a. Loss Control Committee Report 
 b. Recognition of Members for Loss Control Excellence Program Awards 
 c. Risk Management Grants Report 

 
8. For Possible Action: Employee Assistance Program  

a. Employee Assistance Program Report 
b. Approval of Aetna Horizon Behavioral Services, Inc. Contract for the Period July 1, 

2012 – July 1, 2015 
 
9. For Possible Action:  POOL/PACT Human Resources  
  a. HR Oversight Committee Report 
  b. Grant Progress Report 
  c. Grant Financial Report 
  d. Approval of Grant for the period July 1, 2012 - July 1, 2015  
   
10. For Possible Action:   Stewardship Reports 
          a. Alternative Service Concepts 
          b. Willis Pooling  
 
11. Public Comment 
 
12. For Possible Action: Adjournment 
 
 
This Agenda was posted at the following locations: 
 
 N.P.A.I.P. / P.A.C.T.     Carson City Courthouse 
 201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102    885 E. Musser Street 
 Carson City, NV     89701    Carson City, NV     89701 
 
 Eureka County Courthouse    Churchill County Administrative 
Complex 
 10 S. Main Street     155 North Taylor Street 
 Eureka, NV    89316     Fallon, NV     89406 

NOTICE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES 
 

Members of the public who are disabled and require special accommodations or assistance at the 
meeting are requested to notify the Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool or Public Agency 
Compensation Trust in writing at 201 S.  Roop Street, Suite 102, Carson City, NV  89701, or by 
calling (775) 885-7475 at least three working days prior to the meeting. 
 
 



PUBLIC AGENCY COMPENSATION TRUST 
 

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
 

1. Scope   
 

This investment policy applies to all financial assets of  PACT.  These funds are accounted for in  PACT's 
annual financial report. 

 
2. Statement of Purpose 

 
 A.  Safety of principal is  an important objective of the investment program. To ensure that investment of 

funds is accomplished in a safe and secure manner, particularly with respect to limiting the exposure of 
the PACT to unnecessary risk investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital.  To attain this objective, diversification is required in accordance with these 
guidelines. 

 
 B.  To provide adequate liquidity to meet all operating obligations which reasonably may be  anticipated. 

 
 C.  To structure an investment portfolio which is designed to attain a rate of return throughout budgetary and 

economic cycles commensurate with the investment risk constraints and cash flow characteristics of the 
portfolio. A balanced return of current income and modest growth of principal is an important 
objective.  In addition, a related objective is to achieve returns in excess of the rate of inflation over 
the investment horizon in order to preserve the purchasing power of PACT. 

 
 D.  To assure that the investment allocation does not impair the maintenance of capital in accordance   

with the PACT Capitalization Policy Statement. 
 
 3. Investment Strategy 
 

 A.  PACT generally will adhere to the concept of matching amounts and maturities to uses of funds. 
 

 B. Investment officers acting in accordance with written procedures and exercising due diligence will not 
have personal responsibility for an individual security's credit risk or market price changes, provided 
deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to control 
adverse developments. 

Investment officials will adhere to the Prudent Investor Rules that state that a fiduciary must: 

1.      Make investment and management decisions with respect to individual assets in the context of 
the investment portfolio as a whole and as part of an overall investment strategy, not in isolation. 

2.      Adhere to fundamental fiduciary duties of loyalty, impartiality, and prudence. 

3.      Maintain overall portfolio risk at a reasonable level.  That is, risk and return objectives must be 
reasonable and suitable to the portfolio.  The tradeoff between risk and return is the fiduciary’s 
central concern. 

4.      Provide for the reasonable diversification of investments. 

5.      Act with prudence in deciding whether and how to delegate authority to experts and in selecting 
supervising agents.  Be cost conscious when investing.  The fiduciary should incur only costs that 
are reasonable in amount and appropriate to the investment responsibilities of the fiduciary. 

  
  C. Investment strategy will facilitate an appropriate balance of these investment objectives: 

 
1) capital preservation; 



2) diversification among types of investments, issuers and credit ratings; and 
3) allocation of investments in a manner consistent with principles of prudent 

investment management. 
 
  D.  The investment strategy will conform to state statutes governing investment of public funds. 

 
 4. Investment Risk 
 

A. It  is the policy of  PACT that safety of principal is an important objective of the investment 
program and seeks to mitigate to mitigate risks to the extent possible.  Four types are  

              recognized: 
 

1. Credit Risk - is the risk that the issuer of a security will default on the principal and interest.  
PACT will not assume significant credit risk in an attempt to enhance return.  Therefore, below 
investment grade securities shall not be utilized. Acceptable credit ratings for securities shall be 
AAA or AA as rated by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s. In addition, PACT will diversify the 
investment portfolio so that the impact of potential losses from any one type of security or 
from any one individual issuer will be minimized.   

 
2. Liquidity Risk - is the risk that an investment may not be converted into cash if a need for cash 
arises.  PACT will minimize liquidity risk to the extent possible through planning investment 
maturities to ensure that funds are available to meet cash flow needs (static liquidity) and 
maintain a portion of the funds in money market mutual funds which offer same-day 
liquidity for short-term funds. In addition, the portfolio should consist largely of 
securities with active secondary or resale markets (dynamic liquidity).     

 
  3.  Maturity Risk - is the risk that an investment may yield poor results if the length of maturity or 

maturity structure is inappropriate for the market conditions.  The PACT will minimize this risk 
by actively managing the maturity structure to enable holding securities to maturity unless 1) 
the security has declining credit and needs to be sold early to minimize loss of principal, 2) a 
security swap would improve the quality, yield or target duration of the portfolio, or 3) 
liquidity needs of the portfolio require that the security be sold. 

 
4.  Market Risk - arises from the change in the value of the investment as economic conditions 
and interest rates change.  PACT will, to the extent possible, minimize market risk by matching 
investments with its liabilities, making it possible to hold investments to maturity if appropriate. 
The investment portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of 
return throughout budgetary and economic cycles consistent with investment risk constraints 
and liquidity needs.    

 
 5. Investment Responsibility 
 

 A. Investment authority for PACT rests with the Board of Trustees.  This authority may be delegated to the 
Executive Committee and the Executive Director. 

 
 B. The Board of Trustees may contract with investment advisor(s) to advise and manage the PACT's 

investments.   Such advisor(s) shall provide a comprehensive report at least annually to the Board of 
Directors or its designee of all transactions and the investment performance of funds under 
management. The report shall suggest changes in policies or improvements that might be made in the 
investment program.   

 
 C. The Executive Director will manage all investment activity as closely as is practicable.  The Executive 

Director will make day-to-day investments.  In all cases, the Executive Director will: 
 

 1. Ensure that all investments are made in accordance with PACT policies; 
 



 2. Make recommendations to the Board of Trustees concerning investment policy and     strategy; 
 

 3. Inventory all securities held by PACT (This shall be done in conjunction with the annual CPA 
audit); 

 
 4. Provide quarterly reports to the Executive Committee and annually to the Board of Trustees   

of all investment activity.  The report shall include a listing of all securities bought, sold and 
matured.  The report will also include a status of all investments held; 

 
 5. The Board of Trustees will review the investment report, and shall make the review a matter of 

record in the minutes; 
 

 6. The Board of Trustees may appoint a Fiscal Officer.  The Fiscal Officer will, at the direction of 
the Board of Trustees, make investments and execute transactions in cooperation with the 
Executive Director. 

 
   7. Officers, the Executive Director and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain 

from personal business activity that could conflict with proper execution of the investment 
program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial decisions.  Such persons shall 
disclose to the Executive Director or to the Chairman of the Board any material financial interests 
in financial institutions that conduct business within their jurisdiction, and they shall further 
disclose any large personal financial/investment positions that could be related to the performance 
of the PACT. 
 
8.The Board of Directors will review this investment policy and the asset allocation, 
diversification and risks at least annually and at any other time as needed to fulfill its 
fiduciary responsibility. 
 

 6. Authorized Investments 
 

 A.  The following types of securities are eligible investments subject to asset allocation: 
  

 1. U.S. Treasury Securities; 
 2. Federal Agency Securities; 
 3. Federal Funds; 
 4. Bank Certificates of Deposit insured ; 
 5. Savings and Loan Certificates of Deposit insured ; 
 6. Repurchase Agreements; 
 7. Money Market Mutual Funds; 
 8. Statutorily eligible Mortgage-backed securities at a price not to exceed 102% of par value
 9. Such other securities as authorized under Nevada laws applicable to the PACT. 
 

Not more than ten percent (10%) of the fixed income portfolio should be to any one issuer, 
other than securities of the U.S. government or agencies. 

 
B. A Master Repurchase Agreement must be signed with the bank or dealer. 

 
C. If governmental sponsored pools and/or mutual funds are to be utilized, a thorough investigation of the 

pool/fund is required prior to investing, and on a continual basis.  The following general information 
must be addressed: 

1. A description of the eligible investment securities, and a written statement of investment 
policy and objectives 

2. A description of interest calculations and how its is distributed, and how gains and losses are 
treated. 

3. A description of how the securities are safeguarded (including the settlement processes) and 
how often the securities are priced and the program audited. 



4. A description of who may invest in the program, how often, what size deposit and withdrawal 
are allowed. 

5. A schedule for receiving statements and portfolio listings. 
6. A statement regarding utilization by the pool/funds of reserves or retained earnings. 
7. A fee schedule and when and how it is assessed. 
8. A statement regarding whether the pool/fund is eligible for bond proceeds and/or whether it 

will accept such proceeds. 
   
7.  Authorized Financial Dealers and Institutions 

 
The Executive Director will maintain a list of financial institutions authorized by the Board or the Executive 
Committee to provide investment services.  No public deposit shall be made except in a qualified public 
depository as established by Nevada law.  All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become 
qualified bidders for investment transactions must supply the Executive Director with the following evidence 
of qualifications: 
a. audited financial statements 
b. proof of National Association of Security Dealers certification 
c. trading resolution 
d. proof of Nevada registration 
e. completed broker/dealer questionnaire 
f. certification as having read the PACT’s Investment Guidelines and depository contracts 

 
 An annual review of the financial condition and registrations of qualified bidders will be conducted by the  
Executive Director.  A current audited financial statement is required to be on file for each financial 
institution and broker/dealer in which the PACT invests. 

 
 8. Investment Guidelines and Limitations 
 

 A. Diversity.  There will be sufficient diversity in the authorized instruments to allow for variety in the 
makeup of the portfolio.  The Board of Trustees will review investment activity reports to assure 
appropriate diversity exists.  PACT will diversify its investments by maturity, security type and issuer. 
Maturities selected shall provide for stability of income and reasonable liquidity.   
For cash management funds, the following guidelines shall apply:  Liquidity shall be assured through 
practices ensuring that the next disbursement date is covered through maturing investments or 
marketable U.S. Treasury bills 
 
Risks of market price volatility shall be controlled through maturity diversification such that 
aggregate price losses on instruments with maturities exceeding one year shall not be greater than 
coupon interest and investment income received from the balance of the portfolio. 

 
   With the exception of U.S. Treasury securities, money markets, certificates of deposit, exchange traded 

funds and authorized pools, no more than fifteen percent (15%) of the PACT's total investment portfolio 
will be invested in a particular issuer or class of securities or in an industry or company. 

 
 B.  Maximum Maturities.  To the extent possible, the PACT will attempt to match its investments with 

anticipated cash flow requirements.  The PACT will not directly invest in securities maturing more than ten 
(10) years from the date of purchase, except as permitted by law.  The average maturity of the portfolio will 
not exceed five (5) years. 

 
 C. Return on Investment.  The PACT's investment portfolio will be designed with the objective of attaining a 

market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the PACT's investment 
risk constraints and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

 
 D.  Performance Standards.  The investment portfolio results will be compared to reasonably comparable 

indexes reflective of the investment goals listed below: 
 



 1. Goal - to outperform over a 4-5 year period the risk free return from short-term U.S. Treasury 
bills by at least 100 to 200 basis points per year. 

 
 2.  Goal - to outperform the Consumer Price Index over a 4 to 5 year period by at least 200 basis 

points per year. 
 

 3.  Goal - to perform in line with the iShares Lehman 1-3 Year  Treasury Bond Fund  (currently 
trading as SHY) over a 4 to 5 year  period. 

  
 9. Safekeeping and Custody 

  
Securities purchased by the PACT will be held by a professionally qualified institution that has the 
necessary specialization to provide accurate and timely safekeeping of the assets of PACT.    If securities 
are purchased from outside dealers, then trades will be executed by delivery vs. payment (DVP) to 
ensure that securities are deposited in an eligible financial institution prior to the release of funds. 

 
The Executive Director shall establish a system of internal controls, which shall be documented in 
writing.  The internal controls shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee and with the independent 
auditor.  The controls shall be designed to prevent the loss of PACT funds arising from fraud, employee 
error, misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in financial markets or imprudent actions 
by employees, service providers and officers of PACT. 

 
10.  Collateralization 

 
Collateralization will be required on two types of investments: certificates of deposit in excess of current 
FDIC insurance limits and repurchase (and reverse) agreements.  In order to anticipate market changes and 
provide a level of security for all funds, the collateralization level will be 102% of market value of principal 
and accrued interest.  

 
Collateral always will be held by an independent third party with which the PACT has a current custodial 
agreement.  A clearly marked evidence of ownership (safekeeping receipt) must be supplied to the PACT and 
retained. 

 
      The right of collateral substitution is granted. 
 
11. Selection and Performance Review of Investment Managers 
 

The PACT Board of Directors will select appropriate investment managers to manage PACT assets. A 
qualifying investment manager must meet the following minimum criteria: 

• Be a registered investment advisor under the Registered Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or be a 
bank, insurance company or investment management company. 

• Provide historical quarterly performance numbers calculated on a time-weighted basis, based on 
a composite of all fully discretionary accounts of similar investment style, and reported net and 
gross of fees. 

• Provide performance evaluation reports prepared by an objective third party that illustrate the 
risk/return profile of the manager relative to other managers of like investment style. 

• Provide detailed information on the history of the firm, key personnel, key clients, fee schedule 
and support personnel.  

• Clearly articulate the investment strategy that will be followed and document that the strategy 
successfully has been adhered to over time. 

• Have no outstanding legal judgments or past judgments that may reflect negatively on the firm. 
• Provide in writing acknowledgement of fiduciary responsibility to PRI.    

 



The investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured 
against commonly accepted performance benchmarks.  Consideration will be given to the extent to 
which the investment results are consistent with the investment objectives, goals and guidelines as set 
forth in this investment policy statement.  

 
 The Board of Directors intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves 
the right to terminate a manager for any reason, including the following: 

• Investment performance that significantly is less than anticipated given the discipline employed 
and the risk parameters established or unacceptable justification of poor results. 

• Failure to adhere to any aspect of this investment policy statement including communication and 
reporting requirements.’ 

• Significant qualitative changes to the investment management organization. 
 

Investment managers shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, research 
capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors that may impact their 
ability to achieve the desired investment results.   

 
 12. Reporting 
 

The Executive Director will include a market report on investment activity and returns in the PACT's 
Financial Report, which will be distributed quarterly to the Executive Committee and at each Board meeting.   

  
 13. Investment Policy Adoption 
 

The PACT's investment policy will be adopted by the Board of Trustees.  The policy will be reviewed on an 
annual basis by the Executive Committee and any modifications made thereto must be approved by the 
Board. 

Adopted 9/91 
Revised 10/95 
Revised 4/98 
Revised 5/1/2000 
Revised 9/13/2006 
Revised 5/1/2009 

 



NEVADA PUBLIC AGENCY INSURANCE POOL 
 

INVESTMENT GUIDELINES 
 
1. Scope   
 

This investment policy applies to all financial assets of the POOL.  These funds are accounted for in the 
POOL's annual financial report. 

 
2. Statement of Purpose 
 

 A. Safety of principal is an important objective of the investment program. To ensure that investment of 
funds is accomplished in a safe and secure manner, particularly with respect to limiting the exposure of 
the POOL to unnecessary risk, investments shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the 
preservation of capital.  To attain this objective, diversification is required in accordance with these 
guidelines. 

 
B. To provide adequate liquidity to meet all operating obligations which reasonably may be 
 anticipated. 

 
C.   To structure an investment portfolio which is designed to attain a rate of return throughout budgetary 

and economic cycles commensurate with the investment risk constraints and cash flow characteristics of 
the portfolio. A balanced return of current income and modest growth of principal is an important 
objective.  In addition, a related objective is to achieve returns in excess of the rate of inflation over the 
investment horizon in order to preserve the purchasing power of POOL. 

 
D. To assure that the investment allocation does not impair the maintenance of capital in accordance with 

the POOL Capitalization Policy Statement. 
 

 
3. Investment Strategy 
 

A. POOL generally will adhere to the concept of matching amounts and maturities to uses of funds. 
 
 

B. Investment officers acting in accordance with written procedures and exercising due diligence will not 
have personal responsibility for an individual security's credit risk or market price changes, provided 
deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to control 
adverse developments. 
Investment officials will adhere to the Prudent Investor Rules that state that a fiduciary must: 

1.      Make investment and management decisions with respect to individual assets in the context of 
the investment portfolio as a whole and as part of an overall investment strategy, not in isolation. 

2.      Adhere to fundamental fiduciary duties of loyalty, impartiality, and prudence. 

3.      Maintain overall portfolio risk at a reasonable level.  That is, risk and return objectives must be 
reasonable and suitable to the portfolio.  The tradeoff between risk and return is the fiduciary’s 
central concern. 

4.      Provide for the reasonable diversification of investments. 



5.      Act with prudence in deciding whether and how to delegate authority to experts and in selecting 
supervising agents.  Be cost conscious when investing.  The fiduciary should incur only costs that 
are reasonable in amount and appropriate to the investment responsibilities of the fiduciary. 

 C. Investment strategy will facilitate an appropriate balance of these investment objectives: 
 

1) capital preservation; 
2) diversification among types of investments, issuers and credit ratings; and 
3) allocation of investments in a manner consistent with principles of prudent 

investment management. 
 
D.   The investment strategy will conform to state statutes governing investment of public funds. 

 
 
4. Investment Risk 
 

A. It  is the policy of the POOL that safety of principal is an important objective of the investment program 
and seeks to mitigate risks to the extent possible.  Four types are  

 recognized: 
 

1. Credit Risk - is the risk that the issuer of a security will default on the principal and interest.  POOL 
will not assume significant credit risk in an attempt to enhance return.  Therefore, below investment 
grade securities shall not be utilized. Acceptable credit ratings for securities shall be AAA or AA as rated 
by Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s. In addition, POOL will diversify the investment portfolio so that the 
impact of potential losses from any one type of security or from any one individual issuer will be 
minimized.   

 
 

2. Liquidity Risk - is the risk that an investment may not be converted into cash if a need for cash arises.  
POOL will minimize liquidity risk to the extent possible through planning investment maturities to 
ensure that funds are available to meet cash flow needs (static liquidity) and maintain a portion of the 
funds in money market mutual funds which offer same-day liquidity for short-term funds. In 
addition, the portfolio should consist largely of securities with active secondary or resale markets 
(dynamic liquidity).     

. 
 
  3. Maturity Risk - is the risk that an investment may yield poor results if the length of maturity or 

maturity structure is inappropriate for the market conditions.  The POOL will minimize this risk by 
actively managing the maturity structure to enable holding securities to maturity unless 1) the security 
has declining credit and needs to be sold early to minimize loss of principal, 2) a security swap would 
improve the quality, yield or target duration of the portfolio, or 3) liquidity needs of the portfolio require 
that the security be sold. 
. 

 
4. Market Risk - arises from the change in the value of the investment as economic conditions and 
interest rates change.  POOL will, to the extent possible, minimize market risk by matching investments 
with its liabilities, making it possible to hold investments to maturity if appropriate. The investment 
portfolio shall be designed with the objective of attaining a market rate of return throughout budgetary 
and economic cycles consistent with investment risk constraints and liquidity needs.    
 

 
5. Investment Responsibility 
 



A.   Investment authority for POOL rests with the Board of Directors.  This authority may be delegated to 
the Executive Committee and the Executive Director. 

 
 B.  The Board of Directors may contract with investment advisor(s) to advise and manage the POOL's 

investments.  Such advisor(s) shall provide a comprehensive report at least annually to the Board of 
Directors or its designee of all transactions and the investment performance of funds under 
management. The report shall suggest changes in policies or improvements that might be made in the 
investment program.   

 
 

C.   The Executive Director will manage all investment activity as closely as is practicable.  The Executive 
Director will make day-to-day investments.  In all cases, the Executive Director will: 

 
1.  Ensure that all investments are made in accordance with POOL policies; 

 
2.  Make recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning investment policy and strategy; 

 
3.  Inventory all securities held by POOL (This shall be done in conjunction with the annual 

CPA audit); 
 

  4.  Provide quarterly reports to the Executive Committee and annually reports to the Board of 
Directors of all investment activity.  The reports shall include a listing of all securities 
bought, sold and matured.  The reports will also include a status of all investments held; 

 
 

5.  The Board of Directors will review the investment report, and shall make the review a matter 
of record in the minutes; 

 
6.  The Board of Directors may appoint a Fiscal Officer.  The Fiscal Officer will, at the direction 

of the Board of Directors, make investments and execute transactions in cooperation with the 
Executive Director. 

 
  7. Officers, the Executive Director and employees involved in the investment process shall 

refrain from personal business activity that could conflict with proper execution of the 
investment program, or which could impair their ability to make impartial decisions.  Such 
persons shall disclose to the Executive Director or to the Chairman of the Board any material 
financial interests in financial institutions that conduct business within their jurisdiction, and 
they shall further disclose any large personal financial/investment positions that could be 
related to the performance of the POOL. 

 
  8.  The Board of Directors will review this investment policy and the asset allocation, 

diversification and risks at least annually and at any other time as needed to fulfill its 
fiduciary responsibility. 

 
6. Authorized Investments 
 

A.  The following types of securities are eligible investments subject to asset allocation: 
 

1.  U.S. Treasury Securities; 
2.  Federal Agency Securities; 
3.  Federal Funds; 
4.  Bank Certificates of Deposit insured; 
5.  Savings and Loan Certificates of Deposit insured; 
6.  Repurchase Agreements; 
7.  Money Market Mutual Funds; 



8. Statutorily eligible Mortgage-backed securities at a price not to exceed 102% of par value 
9.  Such other securities as authorized under Nevada laws applicable to the POOL. 
 
Not more than ten percent (10%) of the fixed income portfolio should be to any one issuer, other than 
securities of the U.S. government or agencies. 
 

B. A Master Repurchase Agreement must be signed with the bank or dealer. 
 

C. If governmental sponsored pools and/or mutual funds are to be utilized, a thorough investigation of the 
pool/fund is required prior to investing, and on a continual basis.  The following general information 
must be addressed: 

1. A description of the eligible investment securities, and a written statement of investment 
policy and objectives 

2. A description of interest calculations and how its is distributed, and how gains and losses 
are treated. 

3. A description of how the securities are safeguarded (including the settlement processes) 
and how often the securities are priced and the program audited. 

4. A description of who may invest in the program, how often, what size deposit and 
withdrawal are allowed. 

5. A schedule for receiving statements and portfolio listings. 
6. A statement regarding utilization by the pool/funds of reserves or retained earnings. 
7. A fee schedule and when and how it is assessed. 
8. A statement regarding whether the pool/fund is eligible for bond proceeds and/or whether 

it will accept such proceeds. 
   

7.  Authorized Financial Dealers and Institutions 
 

The Executive Director will maintain a list of financial institutions authorized by the Board or the Executive 
Committee to provide investment services.  No public deposit shall be made except in a qualified public 
depository as established by Nevada law.  All financial institutions and broker/dealers who desire to become 
qualified bidders for investment transactions must supply the Executive Director with the following evidence 
of qualifications: 
a. audited financial statements 
b. proof of National Association of Security Dealers certification 
c. trading resolution 
d. proof of Nevada registration 
e. completed broker/dealer questionnaire 
f. certification as having read the POOL’s Investment Guidelines and depository contracts 

 
An annual review of the financial condition and registrations of qualified bidders will be conducted by the 
Fiscal Officer.  A current audited financial statement is required to be on file for each financial institution 
and broker/dealer in which the POOL invests. 

 
 
8. Investment Guidelines and Limitations 
 

A. Diversity.  There will be sufficient diversity in the authorized instruments to allow for variety in the 
makeup of the portfolio.  The Board of Directors will review investment activity reports to assure 
appropriate diversity exists.  The POOL will diversify its investments by maturity, security type and 
issuer. Maturities selected shall provide for stability of income and reasonable liquidity.   
For cash management funds, the following guidelines shall apply:  Liquidity shall be assured through 
practices ensuring that the next disbursement date is covered through maturing investments or 
marketable U.S. Treasury bills 
 



Risks of market price volatility shall be controlled through maturity diversification such that 
aggregate price losses on instruments with maturities exceeding one year shall not be greater than 
coupon interest and investment income received from the balance of the portfolio. 

 
   With the exception of U.S. Treasury securities, money markets, certificates of deposit, exchange 

traded funds and authorized pools, no more than fifteen percent (15%) of the POOL's total 
investment portfolio  will be invested in a particular issuer or class of securities or in an industry or 
company. 

 
B.  Maximum Maturities.  To the extent possible, the POOL will attempt to match its investments with 

anticipated cash flow requirements.  The Pool will not directly invest in securities maturing more than 
ten (10) years from the date of purchase, except as permitted by law.  The average maturity of the 
portfolio will not exceed five (5) years. 

 
C.  Return on Investment.  The POOL's investment portfolio will be designed with the objective of attaining 

a market rate of return throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the POOL's 
investment risk constraints and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio. 

 
D.  Performance Standards.  The investment portfolio results will be compared to reasonably comparable 

indexes reflective of the investment goals listed below: 
 

1.  Goal - to outperform over a 4-5 year period the risk free return from short-term U.S. Treasury 
bills   by at least 100 to 200 basis points per year. 

 
2.  Goal - to outperform the Consumer Price Index over a 4 to 5 year  period by at least   200 

basis points per year. 
 

3.  Goal - to perform in line with the iShares Lehman 1-3 Year  Treasury Bond Fund  (currently 
trading as SHY) over a 4 to 5 year  period. 

 
9.  Safekeeping and Custody 
 

Securities purchased by the POOL will be held by a professionally qualified institution that has the necessary 
specialization to provide accurate and timely safekeeping of the assets of POOL.    If securities are purchased 
from outside dealers, then trades will be executed by delivery vs. payment (DVP) to ensure that securities are 
deposited in an eligible financial institution prior to the release of funds. 

 
The Executive Director shall establish a system of internal controls, which shall be documented in writing.  
The internal controls shall be reviewed by the Audit Committee and with the independent auditor.  The 
controls shall be designed to prevent the loss of POOL funds arising from fraud, employee error, 
misrepresentation by third parties, unanticipated changes in financial markets or imprudent actions by 
employees, service providers and officers of POOL. 

 
10.    Collateralization 
 

Collateralization will be required on two types of investments: certificates of deposit in excess of current 
FDIC insurance limits and repurchase (and reverse) agreements.  In order to anticipate market changes and 
provide a level of security for all funds, the collateralization level will be 102% of market value of principal 
and accrued interest.  

 
Collateral always will be held by an independent third party with which the POOL has a current custodial 
agreement.  A clearly marked evidence of ownership (safekeeping receipt) must be supplied to the POOL 
and retained. 
 



The right of collateral substitution is granted. 
 
11. Selection and Performance Review of Investment Managers 

 
The POOL Board of Directors will select appropriate investment managers to manage POOL assets. A 
qualifying investment manager must meet the following minimum criteria: 

• Be a registered investment advisor under the Registered Investment Advisors Act of 1940 or be a 
bank, insurance company or investment management company. 

• Provide historical quarterly performance numbers calculated on a time-weighted basis, based on a 
composite of all fully discretionary accounts of similar investment style, and reported net and gross 
of fees. 

• Provide performance evaluation reports prepared by an objective third party that illustrate the 
risk/return profile of the manager relative to other managers of like investment style. 

• Provide detailed information on the history of the firm, key personnel, key clients, fee schedule and 
support personnel.  

• Clearly articulate the investment strategy that will be followed and document that the strategy 
successfully has been adhered to over time. 

• Have no outstanding legal judgments or past judgments that may reflect negatively on the firm. 
• Provide in writing acknowledgement of fiduciary responsibility to PRI.    

 
The investment performance of total portfolios, as well as asset class components, will be measured against 
commonly accepted performance benchmarks.  Consideration will be given to the extent to which the 
investment results are consistent with the investment objectives, goals and guidelines as set forth in this 
investment policy statement.  
 
The Board of Directors intends to evaluate the portfolio(s) over at least a three-year period, but reserves the 
right to terminate a manager for any reason, including the following: 

• Investment performance that significantly is less than anticipated given the discipline employed and 
the risk parameters established or unacceptable justification of poor results. 

• Failure to adhere to any aspect of this investment policy statement including communication and 
reporting requirements.’ 

• Significant qualitative changes to the investment management organization. 
 

Investment managers shall be reviewed regularly regarding performance, personnel, strategy, research 
capabilities, organizational and business matters, and other qualitative factors that may impact their ability to 
achieve the desired investment results.   

 
12. Reporting 
 

The Executive Director will include a market report on investment activity and returns in the POOL's 
Financial Report, which will be distributed quarterly to the Executive Committee and at each Board meeting.   

 
12. Investment Policy Adoption 
 

The POOL's investment policy will be adopted by the Board of Directors.  The policy will be reviewed on an 
annual basis by the Executive Committee and any modifications made thereto must be approved by the 
Board. 

Adopted 9/91 
Revised 10/95 
Revised 4/98 
Revised 5/1/2000 
Revised 9/13/2006 
Revised 5/1/2009 

 



1 March 1, 2012 

 

Money Management and Controls – All Entities (General Policy) 

Overview:  POOL, PACT, related captives PRM and PCM, and PRI are all (as 
of April 1, 2011) subject to the same general banking and investment 
services and similar investment policies.  Wells Fargo Nevada Governmental 
Banking provides banking services, and Wells Fargo Institutional Retirement 
and Trust provides investment custody for all five entities.  PARMS, Inc. 
manages/oversees all funds, including accounting and audit coordination, 
check issuance, deposits, and transfers.  Investments are managed by 
various managers (not identical for each entity, but including Eagle Asset 
Managers, PFM, and various mutual funds/ETFs) with guidance from an 
investment advisor (currently Raymond James Financial Services). 
 
In the banking arena, checks issued by PARMS require two signatures, and 
staff approving issuance, physically issuing checks, and signing checks are 
generally exclusive of one another or require at least dual approval.  
Exceptional overlaps for approval and check issuance arise only when staff 
is short-handed, and there are no exceptions for check-signing.  So, at least 
three staff members are nearly always involved in each check leaving the 
office.   
 
Claims check issuance is under the direct control of ASC, a third-party 
administrator subject to its’ own series of controls and audits.  PARMS staff 
oversees the accounting, but does not have authority to issue checks 
without the involvement of ASC.  ASC has deep fiduciary responsibility for 
claims management, largely independent but subject to general indirect 
management by PARMS.  ASC is subject to various independent audits. 
 
Bank deposits are handled increasingly electronically, with large premium 
payments from members done via ACH transfers in most cases.   
 
In the investment arena, funds are transferred from trust accounts to bank 
accounts and vice-versa either electronically or via check-issuance.  The 



2 March 1, 2012 

 

increased reliance on electronic transfers prompted a review of policies and 
controls beginning in September, 2011. 
 
Banking 
 
1. There are currently eight Wells bank accounts.  Three of the accounts 

are necessary to divide PACT funds into claims, claims expense, and 
administrative silos, partially to have one account available to ASC for 
claims payments, partially to fulfill certain Nevada statutory 
requirements.  Two of the other accounts are for POOL, one for claims 
and one for administration.  The last three accounts are for PRM, PCM, 
and PRI.   

There should rarely, if ever, be a need for additional bank accounts to 
serve these five entities.  New account set-up requires recommendation 
by the Executive Director of the appropriate entity, and must then be 
approved by the respective Board Chairman or Fiscal Officer.  In 
addition, the Board itself must have acted on the matter before signed 
documents are presented to the bank and the account is established. 

2. The accounting manager has broad administrative authority over the 
Wells “CEO” online banking system, and can perform various functions 
independently.  However, certain key functions (such as new account 
set-up) cannot be performed without approval of the Executive Director.  
Administration includes assignment of more limited access to systems 
functions for other staff members, including ‘read-only’ access as 
needed.  Such limited access may also be provided to outside personnel, 
such as investment advisors. 
 

3. In most cases, physical checks will be issued out of bank accounts.  
However, there are four ways in which funds may be sent out:  checks, 
ACH transfers, wire transfers, and online transfers to investment (Trust) 
accounts.  Rare outgoing ACH transfer templates may be initiated only 
with approval of the Executive Director, though use of the template 



3 March 1, 2012 

 

thereafter does not require dual authorization.  More routine online 
transfers from bank accounts to investment accounts may be initiated 
by the accounting manager or one other authorized party.  It should not 
be possible for funds to be transferred from the bank accounts (without 
checks being issued) except via ACH or wire transfer or directly to 
investment accounts. 

 
Realistically, in addition to risk management, the control of transfers 
must consider the need for efficiency and the fact that large fund needs 
sometimes arise quickly.  Additionally, cash management may require 
frequent transfers in order to optimize return on short-term 
investments and to minimize the expense associated with large checking 
account balances. 
 
Care must be taken to transfer funds within each entity appropriately 
(from a PACT claims bank account only to a PACT claims investment 
account, for example). 
 

 
Investments (aka: Trust Accounts) 
 
1. There are currently 14 investment accounts (there were 16 in 2011) 

established with Wells.  As of year-end 2011 two accounts were 
closed, as discussed below.  Additionally, three of these 14 accounts 
are ‘combination’ accounts, established only for reporting purposes, 
and it is not intended that they hold funds.  The 11 active accounts 
are assigned as follows:  2 to POOL, 5 to PACT, 2 to PRM, 1 to PCM, 
and 1 to PRI.   
 
Six of the original accounts were established for investment 
management by Eagle Asset Management in Florida (two for PACT, 
one for POOL, and 3 for PRM), but two of the PRM – EAGLE accounts 
will no longer be managed by Eagle as of October 1, 2011.  



4 March 1, 2012 

 

Additionally these two PRM accounts were closed as of year-end 
2011 or shortly thereafter.  Two PACT accounts and the PRI account 
are managed by PFM, with offices in San Francisco and Pennsylvania.  
One POOL account is intended as a short-term cash account (POOL – 
Other).  The captives (PRM and PCM) each have an account holding 
primarily mutual funds and ETFs; trades for these two accounts are 
implemented by PARMS staff at the direction of the advisor and 
subject to investment policy guidelines.  One PACT account is a 
‘pledged’ account, with funds invested at the direction of the advisor 
but able to be transferred only with the express approval of the 
Nevada Division of Insurance. 
 

2. Except for fee or commission payments to custodians, brokers, or 
money managers, transfers of funds from the investment accounts 
may only flow to the appropriate Wells bank accounts.  These 
transfers are to be initiated by the accounting manager or one of her 
staff, but whenever possible should be coordinated with PARMS staff 
overseeing investments.  Staff can then contact managers/advisors 
as appropriate to determine where cash should be raised and/or 
accessed, and to help time the transactions properly.  Transfers 
should be approved by or communicated to a second person with 
check-signing authority for the entity. 

At this time, three PARMS staff members have Wells ‘tokens’ which 
allow secure access to the Wells CEO online system (Executive 
Director, Accounting Manager, and Accounting Staff positions).  The 
two accounting staff members can initiate transfers of funds 
between accounts or by email with Wells Operations Personnel.   The 
Executive Director can initiate transfers only via email, as a back-up 
position. 

Under no conditions (except fee payment mentioned above) should 
funds be transferred from the investment accounts to anywhere 
except their appropriate bank accounts.  In addition, care should be 



5 March 1, 2012 

 

taken to transfer funds within each entity appropriately (from a PACT 
claims investment account to a PACT claims bank account, for 
example).  Funds should never be transferred directly between 
investment accounts, even for the same entity.  That is, for example, 
bills to be paid needing liquidation of investment funds should begin 
with liquidation of investments as needed, then transfer of funds 
from investment accounts to bank accounts, then bill-paying out of 
the bank accounts.  This ‘bill-paying’ process would apply equally to a 
payment intended to eventually move back to another investment 
account. 
 

3. If the Executive Director is convinced there is no incentive for trading 
to be done outside of policy guidelines, trading implementation may 
be left to appropriate staff, subject to guidance by the advisor.  
However, at any time the Executive Director may require a second 
approval for all trading (except that done in an account managed by 
separate contract).  Such control should be coordinated with the 
investment advisor and with Wells Trust staff.  Additionally, 
whichever staff members initiate trades should not be incentive-
compensated based on trading/investment results, in order to avoid 
possible conflicts of interest. 
 

4. Finally, changes made in 2011 were instituted in order to separate 
the functions of custodian, advisor, and portfolio/fund manager.  This 
was done in order to reduce possible conflicts of interest, and such 
separations will be maintained insofar as possible. 

 



































































 

 

Page 1 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

 APPROVED MINUTES OF THE 
NEVADA PUBLIC AGENCY INSURANCE POOL AND 

PUBLIC AGENCY COMPENSATION TRUST 
HUMAN RESOURCES 

OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEETING 
Date:  September 16, 2011   Time:  10:30 a.m. 

Place:  POOL/PACT Building 
201 S. Roop St., Library (2nd floor) 

Carson City 
 

1. Oversight Committee Roll Call: 
Members participating:  Chairman Curtis Calder; Ann Murdoch; Darcy Worms; Geof Stark; Jose 
Delfin; Ben Zunino; and Ben Sharit.  Not Present: Bill Deist; Pat Whitten; Steve Englert; and Robert 
Quick.  PRI Staff:  Jeanne Greene and Christine Vido.  Guest: Mike Pavlakis. 

Jeanne Greene mentioned to the committee that there was a new member.  Undersheriff Robert Quick 
from Lander County has agreed to fill the spot left vacant by Chief Davidson of Winnemucca.   

Curtis Calder mentioned to the committee that items were going to be taken out of order this meeting 
while there was still a quorum.  All action items would be presented first. 

2. Action Item:  Approval of Minutes of Meeting June 17, 2011 
 
Geof Stark made a motion to approve the minutes of June 17, 2011, as presented.  Jose Delfin 
seconded the motion.  Motion was carried.   

7. Action Item:  HR Assessment Grant Approval 

Jeanne presented the committee with one application for approval.  It was for Mt. Grant General 
Hospital.  Jeanne mentioned that they had adopted policies such as Children in the Workplace and 
Anti-bullying, they added FLSA status to their job descriptions, they received training on disciplining 
effectively, and they implemented written offers of employment for all positions.  Curtis mentioned to 
the committee that Mt. Grant was looking for the full $500 grant which they intend to use to purchase 
binders and indexes for new handbooks.  Darcy Worms made a motion to approve the application as 
presented.  Ann Murdoch seconded the motion.  Motion was carried.     

8. Action Item:  Schedule Next Regular Meeting for POOL/PACT Human Resources Oversight 
Committee 

Curtis Calder asked the committee if Fridays was still preferable.  Jeanne suggested December 2nd or 
16th.  Jeanne also mentioned that the POOL/PACT Retreat was scheduled for December 4th and 5th.  
Geof asked if there was a reason for the committee to meet prior to the retreat.  Jeanne replied that 
Wayne has already set the agenda and she did not see anything that needed to be discussed 
beforehand.  It was agreed that Fridays still work well for everyone to meet.  Curtis suggested 



 

 

Page 2 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

meeting next time in Winnemucca.  Jeanne stated that she would ask Bill and get back to the rest of 
the committee.  Curtis Calder made the motion to schedule the next Oversight Meeting on Friday, 
December 16, 2011, in either Carson City or Winnemucca.  Darcy Worms seconded the motion.  
Motion was carried. 

3.   Item:  Clarification of SB98 presented by Mike Pavlakis 

 Mike Pavlakis, an attorney with Allison, MacKenzie, Pavlakis, Wright, and Fagan, stated that he 
would start by outlining the existing law, describe the changes due to SB98, and what the uncertainty 
is.  He advised the committee to review the letter included in their board packets from labor attorney 
Charlie Cockerill.  Mike explained existing law prohibits confidential employees from being 
members of a union.  Existing law defines a confidential employee as one who is involved in 
decisions of management affecting collective bargaining agreements.  Also in existing law are 
provisions regarding supervisory employees.   Existing law states that supervisory employees cannot 
be part of the same bargaining unit as the members that they supervise.  There is also an existing 
definition of supervisory employee stating they have the authority to hire, fire, discipline, direct 
employees, and adjust grievances so long as the exercise of that type of authority requires the use of 
independent judgment and is not routine or clerical in nature and the exercise of that authority is a 
significant part of the supervisory employee’s day.   

Mike said the question is “what did the legislature do that came into effect on July 1st?”  They added a 
provision that supervisory employees cannot belong to a union if they meet the new supervisory 
definition.  This definition consists of three elements and all elements must be met in order to fall 
under this definition.  1) They must be appointed.  Mike said the word “appointed” has significance 
in the context of state employees.  It is unclear if the legislature intended to talk about the classified 
system of employment.  These appointed employees must have the authority to hire, fire, discipline, 
direct employees, and adjust grievances.  2)  They must have authority to make budgetary 
decisions.  The use of the word “budgetary” highlights another question.  Mike points out that when 
the statute discusses budgets in Chapter 354, it is talking about boards and the members of the 
governing body that establishes the budget.  It is possible that unions would say that the use of the 
word “budgetary” in that section would require looking at Chapter 354 to find out who has budgetary 
authority.  Mike explains that statutory construction requires plain and ordinary language used and 
should not provide an absurd result.  If the definition of “budgetary authority” is going to limit the 
application of this definition to only the elected and governing board that would be an absurd result 
and the courts would say that this is not the intent of the legislature.  3) The supervisory employees 
are consulted on decisions relating to collective bargaining.  Again, it is not clear what “consulted 
on” means.  Does the same definition apply as for confidential employees? 

Mike stated the exercise of the supervisory elements requires the exercise of independent judgment 
and these supervisory issues occupy a significant portion of the employee’s day.  If an employee 
meets the requirements of the new definition then they may not be a member of an employee 
organization.  Not only can they not be part of the same union as the employees they supervise, but 
they cannot be a member of any union.  Mike stated that the unions will want to limit the application 
of this new definition.   



 

 

Page 3 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

Mike explained that the bill adds another section of employees who are not able to belong to a union. 
The first category is appointed officials and department heads who are primarily responsible for 
formulating and administering management policy and programs.  The second category is doctors and 
physicians employed by a local government.  The third category is Deputy District Attorneys 
assigned to a civil division except those who were already members of a union as of July 1, 2011.   

Mike discussed the last area the bill addresses, which is adding to the subjects that are mandatory 
topics of bargaining: procedures and requirements for reopening agreements that exceed a term of one 
year, and requires policies and procedures in the bargaining agreement to reopen discussions in the 
event of fiscal emergencies.  There needs to be an economic trigger such as a CPI but needs to be 
negotiated in good faith with the association.   

Under existing law, the agency that has the responsibility for enforcement is the EMRB.  Mike 
indicated that it is possible that the EMRB may get involved in the interpretation.  They might also 
decide to establish regulations to further define supervisory employees.    

Mike pointed out that the letter from Charlie Cockerill indicates that each agency needs to discuss this 
topic with their local counsel.  Most likely the legislature will be asked to revisit this topic during the 
next session.   

Jeanne added many questions still exist with no answers at this point and we will probably not have 
answers until the EMRB makes a decision or it goes to court.  Curtis said that “appointed official” as 
far as it pertains to local government is identified by who has to file financial disclosures on an annual 
basis with the State of Nevada.  He also said that City Charters and County Codes will outline the 
appointed positions.  Mike asked Curtis if all department heads in the City are appointed.  Curtis 
responded that in Elko they are not.  Curtis said the bulk of the department heads are not appointed.  
The Fire Chief who is also a department head and the Police Chief are examples along with the City 
Manager position who are appointed.  Everyone else is an employee of the city who serves at the 
pleasure of the City Manger.  Mike responded that indicated to him that the legislature intended using 
the word “appointed.” 

Ben Zunino stated that he has people who are hired as the Director of Transportation, Maintenance, 
Nutrition Services who do most of the items except consultation about collective bargaining.  They do 
the budgets, recommendations for hiring, and discipline.  Mike asked Ben how many associations are 
in his district.  Ben replied that there was one.  Mike said the issue for Ben resides under the current 
law; the Director positions would fall under the definition of supervisory employees and they 
shouldn’t be in the same association as the employees they supervise.  

Curtis asked about positions that are not appointed and to whom they report to.  He said in the City of 
Elko, if the position is not appointed, the employee serves at the pleasure of the City Manager.  In the 
event of the termination, the department head has to make the recommendation and the City Manager 
has to approve it.  The City Manager does not need to be involved in the process aside from that 
decision.  Curtis asked Mike if that process creates gray areas in determining if the department heads 
really have the authority to hire and fire.  Mike responded that there is language in the statute that 
discusses if the approval is simply a “rubber stamp” and the department heads have effectively made 



 

 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

the decision.  Mike said it would depend on how involved the higher official was during the process 
such as investigating, interviewing, preparing the paperwork.  Darcy asked Curtis how the City 
handles the appeals process if the City Manager is the final decision maker.  Curtis said that the union 
contracts speak to the appeals process and a lot of the contracts go above the City Manager.  If Curtis 
signs off on a termination, they can appeal to the City Council.  Mike said the discussion about the 
employee having the power to effectively recommend hiring and firing falls under the new definition 
of supervisory employees.  These employees still have to meet all three requirements in order to not 
be allowed to unionize.  He also said the legislature didn’t come out and say supervisory employees 
cannot unionize and the unions will take the stance that nothing has changed.   

Jeanne asked Darcy if Douglas County had plans to address this issue.  Darcy said the county was 
going to wait and see what other organization do first.  Darcy said that the City of Reno, Washoe or 
Clark Counties will probably deal with this first and they would wait until then.  Jeanne advised the 
committee that this would be followed up on and if there are any further developments, Charlie 
Cockerill or Mike Pavlakis will be invited back to provide further information. 

Curtis asked if there were any other comments regarding this item and there were none.  

4.   Item:  Report on Current Activities 

Jeanne reported that this would be discussed quickly and highlight the incomplete projects.    

• 10/11 Final Strategic Plan (July 1, 2010, through June 30, 2011) 

New Instructor-Led Courses – Achieving a Drug- and Alcohol-Free Workplace was to be 
completed this fiscal year.  Due to the training manager’s maternity leave this training was 
moved over into the current year.   

Revised/Updated Trainings – There were three that were not completed adding Gender 
Identity.  They were also moved to the current year.  

New E-Learning Courses – Addressing Sexual Misconduct in Schools was 90% completed 
and the delay is on the part of the producers.  Drug and Alcohol training was not completed 
due to the training manager going on maternity leave.  The instructor-led training will be 
completed first followed by the e-learning.  These have been moved into the current year.   

Roundtable Meetings – Jeanne advised that these meetings have been discontinued after a 
survey was sent to the members of the roundtable and it was agreed by all that it was not 
beneficial.   If a topic of interest comes up, the meetings can be called on an as-needed basis. 

FAQ Section on Website – This project was delayed waiting for updates and improvements 
to the POOL/PACT website. 

Enhancing Client Tracking System – Jeanne advised that this is an internal system for 
POOL/PACT HR’s use.  It does not impact member services.  It will be moved over into 
FY11/12. 



 

 

Page 5 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

Statistics – Trainings – 173 trainings scheduled; 103 completed.  About 3,300 employees 
were trained.  E-learning – Almost 9,100 employees were enrolled.  About 4,000 completed 
the online training.   HR Briefings – 80 briefings scheduled; 47 completed.   Policy 
Development – 10 completed.   

New Client Service Programs – There were no requests for Succession Planning this year.  
It is still a current service available.  The other service, Recruitment and Hiring Coaching was 
completed. 

HR Compliance Assessment Program – In FY09/10 four out of ten participant assessments 
were completed.  For FY10/11, Carlin was the only organization that had completed all of 
their recommendations.   

• 11/12 Strategic Plan (July 1, 2011, through June 30, 2012) 

New Instructor-Led Courses – Achieving a Drug- and Alcohol-Free Workplace was moved 
over from the last fiscal year.  There are two courses: one for employees and one for 
supervisors.  They should be available to teach by the end of the month.  Advanced EMS is 
the next scheduled project and should be completed in February.  There will be a requirement 
for Advanced EMS that attendees will have to graduate regular EMS prior to starting this 
course. 

Revised/Updated Trainings – Existing courses are listed that need to be updated due to 
changes in law such as adding gender identity.  The trainings are being updated based upon 
when they are scheduled; those that are scheduled sooner are given a higher priority. 

New E-Learning Courses – Addressing Sexual Misconduct in Schools and Drug and 
Alcohol training were moved over from the previous year.  The instructor-led training will be 
completed first followed by e-learning.  One more course on Supervisory Documentation is 
also listed to be completed this year. 

Regional Trainings – EMS - Has been started in Lyon County with 27 participants.  It is 
scheduled in Carson City in October and again in February.  Advanced EMS - Scheduled in 
March and May in Carson City.  It will also be held in Elko and Winnemucca but no dates 
have been scheduled.  HR Rep Program - Will be held in Carson City beginning in March.  
It will be held on back-to-back dates.  Internal Investigations for School - A result of many 
changes in law during the last legislative session.  Ann Alexander will be presenting this in 
nine locations throughout the state.  Internal Investigations – Presented by Ann Alexander 
and Becky Bruch.  It will be presented in Boulder City on September 21st.  Workplace 
Violence – One has been presented in Lovelock and another one will be presented in Douglas 
County after the first of the year.  POWER – Training for NACO and the League of Cities in 
two locations this year. 

Revised HR Briefings – Seven have been updated due to changes in law.  A number of 
others have been identified and will be updated throughout the year. 



 

 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

Webinars – Four will be scheduled through the EAP.  The first is Boundaries in the 
Workplace and will be presented on September 27th. 

New HR Briefings – Three have been identified this current year.  A fourth will be added to 
address social media 

Client Service Programs – Succession Planning and Recruitment and Hiring Coaching are 
going to be offered again this year to the members. 

Statistics – Trainings – 58 trainings scheduled; 14 completed.  There are other trainings 
listed on the service plans but are not being counted at this time as actual training dates have 
not been identified.  921 participants have gone through training since July 1st; the majority of 
participants are school district employees who have gone through the sexual misconduct 
trainings.  Policy Development – One completed - Mt Grant General Hospital.   
 
Policies – The review of the sample policies was completed at the beginning of the fiscal year 
due to the legislative session.  It is also on the calendar for a review at the end of the fiscal 
year. 

Compliance Assessment Program – Ten organizations are typically selected to participate 
in the program.  12 asked to participate this year and they have all been accepted.  Douglas 
County has already started their assessment.  Others have been scheduled to begin over the 
next several months. 

Darcy Worms commented that she would recommend any organization to participate in the 
Compliance Assessment Program.  She said it was very respectful and good information was 
provided.  She said no one should be afraid to participate.   

• Employment Opportunity Listing Website 

The report shows the number of people visiting the website.  The numbers are very 
consistent.  There are no huge peaks or valleys.  The statistics from the previous year were 
also provided as a point of comparison. 

5.   Item:  Report on Other Activities 

• HR Problem-Solving Reports – These are summaries of out-of-ordinary issues which 
occurred during the fourth quarter of last year. 

• Report on Employment Related Claims – As of the date of the report (September 1, 2011) 
the loss history looked good with three claims for the first two months.  Since that time, 
Jeanne said she is aware of three other incidents not listed on the report dealing with sexual 
misconduct issues at school districts. 

 



 

 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 
201 S. Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV 89701-4779 
Toll Free Phone (877) 883-7665 
Telephone   (775) 885-7475 
Facsimile  (775) 883-7398  

6.   Item:  Overview of FRISK Documentation Model 

Jeanne mentioned this is a new project that POOL/PACT HR is very excited about.  It is a 
documentation model developed by a California employment attorney as a result of noticing 
weaknesses in documentation when he took cases to arbitration, mediation, and court.  About 75% of 
school districts in California require their employees to use this model.  He has programs for school 
districts, community colleges, universities, and local government.  Lyon County School District will 
pilot the program.  Either Humboldt or Storey County will also participate.  The creator of the model 
will be coming out to the school district to train approximately 50 employees on Monday and 
Tuesday of next week.  Bill Deist and Pat Whitten will be in attendance to see if this program can be 
used in their organizations.  Jeanne explained that the reason these organizations were chosen to 
participate was because they had stability in management and in their HR Programs.  The program 
currently will be on a pilot basis through January.  POOL/PACT HR will then do an assessment to 
see if any adjustments need to be made.  It will then be available to other organizations after that time.  
The acronym for FRISK stands for: Facts, Rule, Impact, Suggestions, and Acknowledgment.  Jeanne 
pointed out that the developer of the program is not a licensed attorney in the State of Nevada so there 
is no conflict of interest.  He is not charging us for the use of the program other than the cost of the 
books.  POOL/PACT HR will be picking up the cost of the books for the pilot organizations.  
Depending on the number of organizations that commit to doing the program, Jeanne said 
POOL/PACT HR might be able to continue purchasing for other organizations.  Darcy Worms asked 
if POOL/PACT HR would be conducting the trainings.  Darcy also asked who should be trained.  
Jeanne replied all supervisors and managers should be trained and there has to be total “buy-in” by 
the organization for cohesion.  When the developer comes out to do the initial training, POOL/PACT 
HR will be observing and will be provided the information to conduct future trainings.  Jeanne stated 
that the goal of this training is to try to get good documentation so when action is taken against an 
employee the organization is in a defensible position. 

9. Item:  Public Comment   

No public comment was made. 

10. Action Item: Adjournment 

Curtis Calder called the meeting adjourned at 11:29 a.m.   









































































Audit Year 
POOL Net 
Assets

PRM Net 
Assets

PACT Net 
Assets

PCM Net 
Assets)

Combined Net 
Assets

% 
Change 
vs. Prior 
Year

2011  $    26,261,322  $    17,167,612  $    48,159,833  $  28,484,097 120,072,864$   10%
2010  $    23,786,160  $    12,461,784  $    47,888,678  $  24,556,268 108,692,890$   22%
2009  $    19,232,942  $      8,224,361  $    45,671,608  $  16,063,396 89,192,307$     22%
2008  $    16,701,095  $      5,994,660  $    41,198,184  $    9,285,447 73,179,386$     31%
2007 15,084,263$     3,445,221$       32,236,857$     5,045,477$     55,811,818$     62%
2006 12,178,425$      $      1,334,805 21,000,513$      $                 -   34,513,743$     66%
2005 8,256,649$       1,109,897$        $    11,414,812  $                 -   20,781,358$     39%
2004 6,878,950$       1,000,000$       7,042,968$       -$               14,921,918$     

TOTAL 
2007-2011 101,065,782$   47,293,638$     215,155,160$   83,434,685$   446,949,265$   23.7%

5 year 
Average

TOTAL 
2006-2010 86,982,885$     31,460,831$     187,995,840$   54,950,588$   361,390,144$   32.1%

5 year 
Average

TOTAL 
2005-2009 71,453,374$     20,108,944$     151,521,974$   30,394,320$   273,478,612$   

Note: POOL and PACT Net Assets are as of June 30; PRM and PCM are as of December 31.



Loss Control

#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress.xlsx

Assigned to: Loss Control Control Committee

Objectives: Strategies Due Date Progress/Status Report 
OSHA and ADA Compliance Conduct Surveys; 2 annually and as requested ad hoc FY2009-12 completed & ongoing FY 2012-2015

MSDS Online Web Service FY2009-12 completed & ongoing FY 2012-2015
Promote Fire Extinguisher Training Program FY2009-12 completed & ongoing FY 2012-2015
Respiratory Protection Programs 2009-12 FY2009-12 completed & ongoing FY 2012-2015
OSHA 10 and 30 Hour Safety Training 2010 completed & ongoing FY 2012-2015

 ADA training on 2010 Accesibility Design Standards FY2011-12 completed FY2011

E-Learning Curriculum Development Deliver training; e-learning module, webinars and conference session FY2009-10

Hazard Communications, Blood borne Pathogens and 
Erogonomics developed in 2009. Lockout/Tagout, 
Confined Space, Forklift Operations and OSHA Rights 
and Responsibilities  FY2010 

FY2011-12 17 new courses being added 7/1/2011
Emergency Planning and Disaster 
Management Belfor to deliver non-structural earthquake mitigation workshops to K-12 FY2012-15 on-going
Claims Analysis/Benchmarking Committee evaluates major POOL/PACT trends quarterly FY2009-12 ongoing

  
Formalized Injury Management Programs Return to Work, Nurse First Call, Case Management  FY2009-10 completed & referred to POOL/PACT HR

  
Wellness/Body Mechanics Ergonomics, Back Injury Prevention; Wellness education & awareness FY2009-12 ongoing

Fit Responder training program for EMS and first responders FY 2012-15
Auto/Driver Safety training Instructor led available; E-Learning course in Defensive Driving added in 2011 annually ongoing

Inform & Educate Members on risk 
management topics

Sponsor the annual PRIMA Chapter conference in lieu of the Loss Control 
Retreat. annually

Conference held 11/12-11/13/09 Lake Tahoe, 3/22/12 in 
Henderson. 2013 in Reno

Information Risk Management & E-Discovery Workshops FY2011
Four regional workshops delivered and Pooling 
Provisions toolkit document produced FY 2011

Loss Control Excellence Program Develop 2 new members per year FY 2009-12
Carson City School District and Boulder General 
Hospital certified in 2011

FY2012-15 LCEP program offered in web survey format
Promote continuation awards FY 2009-12 ongoing

Risk Management Grant Program 
Promote risk management through funding of training, compliance and 
acquisition of safety equipment annually

see RM Grant report. Members are gaining awareness 
of this program and utlization is growing

Allocated funds specifically for Stryker injury prevention products FY 2012

Goal:  Deliver risk control services by planning, promoting, and implementing safety, health, and environmental initiatives to protect public 



Human Resources Management

#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress.xlsx

Responsible Committee: HR Oversight
Goal: Serve as a business partner with POOL/PACT members to enhance their human resource programs, improve employee/employer relations, and reduce liability.

Objectives: Action Plans Target Date Progress/Status Report
Develop and Revise Training Courses Develop two new instructor-led training courses. Annually '09-10 - 3 completed

'10-11 - 2 completed
'11-12 - 4 completed

Update and revise instructor-led training courses. Annually '09-10 - 13 completed
'10-11 - 15 completed
'11-12 - 13 completed, 4 in process

Offer two regional training courses throughout the State. Annually '09-10 - 15 completed
'10-11 - 16 completed
'11-12 - 23 completed, 3 in process

Offer four mandatory on-line training courses for new employees. FY09-10 & Annually Completed

Enhance and Market Online Training Encourage Members' use of on-line training. Annually Completed
Develop two new e-learning courses. Annually '09-10 - 2 completed

'10-11 - 1 completed
'11-12 - 1 completed, 2 in process

Market one-on-one demonstrations of e-learning for clients not currently utilizing this 
training delivery method.

FY09-10 & Annually PARMS  is conducting

Continue to Improve/Enhance 
Communications and Access to Information

Develop and distribute bi-monthly newsletter. Annually

Converted to Pooling Perspectives
Develop three new Briefings. Annually '09-10 - 3 completed

'10-11 - 3 completed
'11-12 - 1 completed, 2 in process

Update ten Briefings. Annually '09-10 - 17 completed
10-11 - 16 completed
'11-12 - 15 completed, 12 in process

Issue Alerts as needed. Annually Completed
Post bi-weekly Bulletins on website. Annually Converted to Pooling Perscpectives
Conduct Statewide webinars on timely issues as necessary. FY09-10 & Annually Completed
Conduct biennial HR Services Survey. FY10-11 Completed
Conduct semi-annual regional information meetings to include "Shared Lessons." FY10-11 & Annually Completed

Continue to Improve Use of Technology Review and enhance HR webpage. Annually Completed
Enhance Client Tracking System. FY11-12 In process

Conduct HR Practices Assessments Develop and pilot HR Compliance Assessment Program. FY09-10  10 on-site assessments completed
Implement & conduct basic HR Compliance Assessment Program, including a written 
plan of action/correction for 25% of HR client programs.

FY10-11 & Annually '10-11 - 10 on-site assessments completed, 

'11-12 - 7 on site assessments completed, 5 scheduled

Develop and Deliver Client Service Plans Develop client Service Plans to include trainings, briefings, and policy development. Annually Completed

Develop new client service programs. FY09-10 & Annually New programs incorporated into HR Assessment program, 
i.e., writing job descriptions.  Developed a recruitment 
assistance program.  Adopted FRISK pilot program for 
three school districts.

Maintain Sample HR Policies Systematically review, update, and create new Sample Policies for both General Use 
and Schools.

Annually Completed

Coaching and Problem Solving Assist clients with HR-related issues by providing advice and consultation. Annually Completed

Strategy:  Provide resources and training that increase members' ability to manage human resources risks and to 
incorporate best practices techniques into their operations.  Increase awareness and understanding of effective human 
resources management practices and methods to mitigate risks.



Claims

#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress.xlsx

Assigned to: ASC/PARMS

Objectives: Strategies: Target Date Progress/Status Report 
POOL

Excellence in claims management POOL claims audit every two years 3/14/2011 Audit completed/report presented at 2011 Board Meeting.  
POOL claims audit every two years 2/1/2013

Reduce claims severity 
Use effective litigation management; # cases resolved < authority, < 
$50,000 and < SIR annually

# of litigated claims closed in 2011 calendar year=89.  Total paid in legal expense $1,559,836.27 or average 
$17,526.25 per claim.  Total indemnity paid $814,442.83 or average $9,151.04 per claim.  All claims resolved for 
less than the SIR.   64 cases closed with no indemnity payment.   16 cases closed with indemnity payment < 
$25,000 authority.   2 cases closed with indemnity payment between $25,001 and $50,000.    7 cases closed with 
indemnity payment between $65,962 and $205,000.   Largest indemnity payment $180,000.00 on a GL claim 
involving a sewer back-up.  Case was tried and lost--atty fees were just over $50k.   

Large loss report (cases with total incurred xs $100k) annually Presented at 2011 and 2012 Board Meeting

Develop claims adjuster capabilities
Attend two HR and one Law Enforcement training course; attend 
litigation workshop annually

ASC is a member of Northern Nevada Claims Association (NNCA) and we attend monthly "lunch and learn" 
meetings with speakers on various industry-related topics.  All ASC staff completes annual fraud training through 
ASC's partner G4.  Donna Squires and Jasmine Sanchez attended an Employment Law Update seminar sponsored 
by Erickson, Thorpe & Swainston in September 2011.  Donna Squires attended the annual conference hosted by 
United Educators in September 2011 with Ann Wiswell. Donna Squires, Diane Evans and Jasmine Sanchez 
attended a Tazer training through PATC in October 2011.  Donna Squires attended the CRL conference with Ann 
Wiswell in November 2011.  Donna Squires attended the POOL/PACT Board Retreat in December 2011.  Jasmine 
Sanchez attended a water extraction workshop sponsored by Belfor in February 2012.  Donna Squires, Dan Hamlin, 
Diane Evans and Jasmine Sanchez attended the Litigation Strategy Workshop in March 2012.  Donna Squires and 
Diane Evans  attended the NV PRIMA conference 3/2012

Enhance members understanding of loss trends and risks
Conduct lessons learned workshop and publications from case 
histories ; Trends Reports annually Stewardship report to be presented at 2012 Board Meeting

Enhance defense and members' counsel capacity to prevent 
and contain litigation

Assist Members with internal claims management and prevention; 
Conduct litigation strategy educational workshop annually Litigation strategy workshop held February 18, 2011; March 2, 2012 

Train members on claims management practices
Train members on internal claims reporting, adjusters role, members 
role ongoing

No trainings were held but staff has met with members in the field on specific losses.   ASC is working with Belfor to 
plan regional water extraction trainings with Member public works/maintenance staff throughout the State in 2012.   

Online claims reporting Set up online claims reporting capability at POOL/PACT website FY 2009-2010
Online reporting for both P&C and WC claims is currently available at the POOL/PACT website under the "CLAIMS" 
tab

PACT
Excellence in claims management PACT claims audit every two years FY 2009-2010 completed 2/2010

PACT claims audit every two years FY 2011-2012 pending 3/29 - 4/5/2012

Reduce claims severity 
Train police/fire members in cardiac welness program to complete 
rollout ongoing

ASC adjusters educate members about program availability and refer them to Specialty Health when need is 
indicated by a claim or member query. SpecialtyHealth trains as new members sign up for CWP.

Work with PARMS, LC, SH, PPHR and members to develop early 
intervention/injury management/RTW program FY 2009-2010

Attended LC mtngs, PPHR-ASC mtngs; Attended Nat'l Work Comp Conf Nov. 2011 for trng & vendor appraisal; 
cont'd assm't RTW services; multiple claim & HR interactions with PPHR 2011-12; 3/2012 evaluated RTW options, 
shifted focus to educating members about RTW rather than formal RTW contract. Reviewed ASC-SHC interactions 
to improve coordination of services on claims.

Assist members' understanding of loss causes and trends
Produce annual claims trend analysis reports and review with 
members during quarterly visits ongoing Central Lyon FPD, Feb. 2012; Truckee Meadows FPD/Sierra FPD, Feb. 2012
Utilize PERI Data Exchange ongoing Continue work on participation in PERI study for claims analysis.

Utilize Subsequent Injury Fund Identify potential SIF cases and file timely ongoing
Recoveries received 4/2011-3/2012 $250,399; 1 heart claim has potential recovery this year, total loss $4M under 
workup; District Ct. Appeals planned on denials with potential to overturn.

Utilize SpecialtyHealth MCO 

Consult for medical management of difficult cases; identify potential 
heart/lung problems in any claim for fire or law enforcement; involve 
SH in cardiac wellness training ongoing

Cont'd MCO utilization 115 claims 2011; lost time, spine & major joint injuries, heart & hearing loss claims. Monthly 
case management meetings held.

Utilize SH to identify potential medical complexities in all new claims ongoing New claims sent for review daily as received, 639 in 2011

Train members on claims management practices

Train members on internal claims communications with employees, 
adjusters role, members role, SH role with filing claims, evidence 
preservation, documnetation, and claim reviews.  ongoing

Provided claims training Central Lyon FPD, Truckee Meadows FPD/Sierra FPD, Feb. 2012. Ongoing training via 
member emails and phone calls on specific claims.

Conduct quarterly visits with members for training purposes on 
rotating basis.   annually Central Lyon FPD, Feb. 2012; Truckee Meadows FPD/Sierra FPD, Feb. 2012

Online claims reporting Set up online claims reporting capability at POOL/PACT website FY 2009-2010
Online reporting for both P&C and WC claims is currently available at the POOL/PACT website under the "CLAIMS" 
tab

425407

GOAL:  Provide effective claims and litigation management systems for the benefit of members.  Assist members in understanding claims trends and 
members' role in reducing claims to control costs.  Increase awareness and understanding of regulatory requirements associated with internal claims 



Executive

Strategic Plan

Assigned to: Executive Committee & PARMS Jointly

Objectives: Strategies: Target Date Progress/Status Report 

Grow net assets of each pool and captive 
POOL & PACT(includes PRM and PCM): Target at least 15% average 
net assets growth per year over rolling 4 year cycles; annually

Average growth per year between 
20.07-2011: POOL 16.19%; PACT 
14.45% 

Maintain net assets to highest SIR ratio of at least 
12:1 for each pool

POOL: continue to grow above target to enable increased retention - SIR 
$500,000 = $6,000,000 annually 2009-10: 48; 2010-11: 53
PACT: continue to grow above target to cushion for increased retention - 
SIR $500,000 = $6,000,000 annually 2009-10: 96; 2010-2011: 96

Enhance boards' understanding of financial results
Produce M D & A reports showing critical benchmarks and financial 
performance ratios; review with Boards annually

Completed for 2008/09; 2009/10; 
2010/11 audits

Provide actuarial summary each board meeting annually done 4/10; 4/11; 4/12

Prepare annual report with financial audit annually
2008/09 mailed 3/2010; 2009/10 
mailed 4/2011; 2010/11 tbd 

Include fiscal impact notes in budget documents showing overall effect 
of changes annually

Completed 3/8/2010; 
3/3/2011;3/9/2012

Review budgets with Executive Committees; include discussion of 
actuarial confidence level selection and allocation methodology annually

Completed 3/8/2010; 3/3/2011; 
3/9/2012

Enhance board leadership Executive Committees attend AGRIP trustees training annually
Done 10/2010; 10/2011; Scheduled 
for 10/2012

Board & Member Development Conduct new board member orientation annually done 4/2011
Conduct board development training at annual meeting annually done 4/2010; 4/2011; 4/2012
Conduct member orientations about POOL/PACT programs and 
services annually Done 4/2011

Strenghten Services Delivery Monitor strategic plan progress on goals and review objectives annually Reporting 4/2010; 4/2011; 4/2012
Monitor service provider performance annually Reporting 4/2010; 4/2011;4/2012
Require annual stewardship reports from service providers annually Reporting 4/2010; 4/2011; 4/2012

Monitor Legislation and Regulation Utilize lobbyist effectively during legislative sessions bi-annually
Contracted lobbyist for 2009 & 
2011 Sessions

Participate in regulatory process for Division of Insurance and Division of 
Industrial Insurance Regulation annually Input on OSHA 10/30 regulations

Goal: Grow Members net assets; Increase Financial Strength of Pools

GOAL: Lead the pools effectively to assure accomplishment of the mission and vision adopted by the board.  Develop the capacity of the pools to 
maintain financial solvency and flexibility to meet future financial conditions and strategies for program development.

Goal: Grow Leadership Capacity of Pools



PARMS_Risk Mgmt.

#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress.xlsx

Assigned to PARMS/Risk Management

Objectives: Strategies Target Date Progress/Status Report 
Goal: Enhance Communications with Members and Access to Information
Implement Written Communications Plan FY2009-10
periodic print publications; Risk Management Bulletins; Pooling Provisions
online communications; Website enhancements; Pooling Perspectives newsletter completed during 2009
meeting and conference materials; Board packets, RM Conference materials, banners, giveaways completed during 2012
media relations and public relations materials; Industry association communications, member orientation tools
marketing and sales tools; POL/PACT Brochure completed 2011/12
committee and board communiques; Web Meetings, enhanced meeting tools  beta 2011/launch 2012
POOL/PACT identity materials, including letterhead, logo, and 
envelopes; Print brochures, reassess Completed FY2010-11

Constant Contact Completed FY2010-11
certificates and awards; Evaluate LCEP and other award communications Completed FY2010-11
annual reports; Access online and in print Completed with 2008-2009 audit
Enhance & Market POOL/PACT E-Learning Program 
Curriculum development, Schools   

Bloodborne Pathogens for Schools FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
School Bullying FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
School Intruders FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
FERPA:Confidentiality of Records FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
School Violence and Threat Assessment FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Child Abuse: Identification & Intervention FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11

Curriculum development, Safety & Environmental FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Office Ergonomics FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Hazard Communication FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Slips, Trips and Falls FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Respiratory Protection Programs FY2009-10 all courses updated 7/1/11
Preventing Back Injuries FY2010-11 all courses updated 7/1/11
Confined Spaces FY2010-11 all courses updated 7/1/11
Lockout/Tagout FY2010-11 all courses updated 7/1/11
Snow & Ice Management FY2010-11 all courses updated 7/1/11
Automobile Safe Driving FY2010-11 all courses updated 7/1/11

Curriculum development, Risk Management for Public Entities
PERI Series FY2010-11 FY2011

Curriculum development, Law Enforcement High Risk Critical Task training content provided by PATC FY2009-12 FY 2011
Moodle LMS enhancements Track on ground training FY2009-10 FY2011

Enterprise Learning Information System install FY2009-10 completed 2009
Host webinars and instructor led courses FY2009-10 ongoing
Enhance member registration & enrollment process FY 2012

Market & Promote E-Learning Program 
one to one member meetings, newsletter links and announcements, 
print material, POST, DOE and HR promotion FY2009-12 ongoing

Goal: Plan, promote and implement risk management initiatives to reduce liability and protect public assets.
Evaluate loss trends Quarterly review of large losses; monthly review of loss development FY2009-12 completed 2009-10
Monitor Swimming Pool exposures and continually train 
operators

Inspect each swimming pool every three years; host annual Swimming 
Pool Operators certification course. annually completed 2009; ongoing
Publish guide to Virginia Graeme Baker Safety Act FY2009-10  

GOAL: Enhance communication with members in a manner that provides members with easy access to essential information and 
resources. Plan, promote and implement risk management initiatives to reduce liability and protect public assets.



PARMS_Risk Mgmt.

#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress.xlsx

Monitor electrical hazards in aging buildings  
Conduct thermal imaging surveys of select buildings based on COPE 
data annually completed 2009; ongoing

Plan, promote and implement risk management initiatives to 
address exposures unique to school districts Host UE workshops on relevant topics annually

UE presented at PRIMA 
confrence 2009; next seminars 
scheduled for 2011

Circulate UE publications FY 2009-2012 completed; ongoing
Plan, promote and implement risk management initiaves to 
address exposures unique to law enforcement agencies Constitutional Law Update annually
 Jail Liability Symposium FY2009-10

Implement standardized policies annually

Provide SkidCar training to four regions once per year annually
Rally 4/2010. Member agencies 
scheduled for recertification 

Deliver quarterly EMD Training FY2009-10 completed 2009; ongoing
Deliver Elected Officials Liability Training Workshops Public Officials Liability FY2009-12 completed for several members

Open Meeting Law FY2009-12 completed for several members
School Board Legal Liability FY2009-12 completed for several members
Positive Governance FY2009-12 completed for several members
Ethics FY2009-12 completed for several members

Risk Management Contract Review
Review member contracts for risk transfer, assumption of liability and 
insurance requirements FY2009-12 reviewed several requests 

Risk Research Projects
Conduct ad hoc research and publish relevant findings to membership 
in newsletters and rm bulletins FY2009-12

Wellness programs Promote Cardiac Wellness to Law Enforcement and Fire agencies annually

Met with SpecialtyHealth and 
firefighters represetntatives 
1/2010; 2/2010; ongoing 











POOL/PACT Loss Control  
Strategic Plan 2012-2015 



Mission and Vision  
   The mission of the Loss Control 

Committee is to deliver risk control 
services by planning, promoting, and 
implementing safety, health, and 
environmental initiatives to protect 
public assets and reduce losses. 



Voting Committee Members 
• Cash Minor, Elko County - Chairman 
• Kevin Curnes, Carson City School District 
• CJ Manthe, IVGID   
• Steve West, Winnemucca 
• Mike Callahan, City of Mesquite 
• Jan Archuleta, Eureka County 
• Dan Murphy, Pershing County Schools 



Voting Alternates: 
• Bob Spellberg, Gardnerville Ranchos GID  
 (alternate Chair) 
• Shannon Gardner , Storey County 
• Geoff Stark, Churchill County  
• Jeff Zander, Elko County School District 
• Darren Wagner, Yerington   

 
 



Strategies 2012-15 
• OSHA and ADA Compliance 
• E-Learning curriculum development 
• Emergency Planning 
• Continued focus on enhancing POOL/PACT member 

communication  
• Claims Analysis/Benchmarking 
• Wellness/Body Mechanics 
• Auto/Driver Safety training 
• LCEP Administration 
• Grant Program Administration 

 



 
OSHA Compliance 
 
• Fire Extinguisher Training 
• Respiratory Protection Fit Testing 
• MSDS Web Access (2010) 
• OSHA 10 & 30 Hour Construction Safety 

Training (2010) 
• New Online Safety Courses 

 



 
ADA Compliance 
 



Claims Analysis/Benchmarking 

• POOL loss history 
• Trends in public sector 
• Aging workforce 
• EMS/First Responder injury rate 



Formalized Injury Management 

2009-10: Evaluated two service providers 
• Nurse first call – medical triage 
• Return to work/Light duty 
• TWA database 
• Model RTW policy  



Emergency Planning 
• Coordinate with local emergency 

management contacts 
• Monitor preparedness of members 
• Serve as a resource 
• Non-structural earthquake mitigation 

 
 



Wellness/Body Mechanics 
Aging Workforce  
Fit Responder 
Instructor led Back Safety Course  
E-Learning: 

oHeat related injuries 
o Ergonomics 
 

 
  



Enhance Member 
Communications 
• Internet/Email Surveys 
• Risk Research Bulletins 
• Monthly Email Newsletter 
   “Pooling Perspectives”  
Internet/Email based marketing and 

registration of instructor led courses and 
webinars 

  



Fleet/Driver Safety 
• Defensive Driving courses 2009-12 
• School Bus Driver Safety Training Course 
• Skid Car  
  



LCEP 
 
• In depth self audit 
• Review and approval from LC Committee 
• Plaque of recognition and CASH award 
• Congratulations to two new members! 

 
  



LCEP Recertifications 
Battle Mountain General Hospital 
Boulder City 
Douglas County 
Elko County School District 
Lyon County 
Town of Pahrump 

 
  



LCEP Annual Continuation 
 

  



RM Grant Program 
 Safety Training Grant -100% funding up to 

$2,000 per person 
 
 Property risk reduction grants/emergency 

response equipment  - 50% member match 
 
 OSHA Compliance/Workplace Safety 

Equipment  - 25% member match 



Stryker Grant Program 
 Stryker  



Fiscal Year 2010-2011 & Fiscal Year 2011-2012 (to current date)

Date Grant # Entity Purpose  Grant Amount 

 Money 

Returned  Net Grant 

7/9/10 54 Douglas Co. School Dist./CVMS 2 Security Cameras 12,967.90          12,967.90  

7/9/10 55 White Pine Co. School Dist 10, 4 camera systems for 10 Buses 15,550.00          15,550.00  

7/12/10 56 Carson City School District Security Camera System 14,200.00          14,200.00  

7/16/10 57 Douglas County Back-up Sensors for County vehicles 10,000.00          10,000.00  

7/23/10 58 Town of  Minden Fire alarm system, surveill equipmt, add'l liting 5,486.00            5,486.00    

8/6/10 59 Mineral County School District Security Cameras for school buses 8,515.00            8,515.00    

3/4/11 60 City of Winnemucca/ PD Computer voice stress analyzer for hiring candidates DENIED -             

3/11/11 61 City of Mesquite Power Assist Patient lifting device 20,049.20          20,049.20  

3/11/11 62 Lincoln County School Dist Fencing ard Pahranagat School campus 10,000.00          10,000.00  

4/21/11 63 Twn of Gardnerville Security Syst replacmt equipmt/Heritage Park 1,240.38            1,240.38    

4/21/11 64 Lander County Sheriff's Office Soft skills training/ similar training thru HR DENIED -             

5/11/11 65 Churchill Co. School District Olweus Training & Travel costs 6,000.00            6,000.00    

5/27/11 66 NV Rural Housing Auth'y Annual Conf. SHRM 6/26-30th attendance 1,600.00            1,600.00    

5/27/11 67 Churchill CSD Training Conf (STN)  7/23 - 26th attendance 1,000.00            1,000.00    

7/21/11 68 Douglas CSD Security/ Intrusion System 14,229.91          14,229.91  

7/21/11 69 City of Fernley 6 Camera surveillance system/intrusion alarms 16,425.00          16,425.00  

7/21/11 70 City of Winnemucca Upgrade its 2-way radio system 25,000.00          25,000.00  162,263.39    FY 10/11 

8/19/11 71 Lander County School District Training Seminar for Assistants 1,600.00            1,600.00    

8/19/11 72 Elko County School District Sprinkler Restoration Service via ASC claim 9,745.95            9,745.95    

10/25/11 73 Lincoln County School Dist Security Fencing/ Appends Orig. Grant #62 3,830.00            3,830.00    

10/25/11 74 Lyon County School District New Fire Alarm equipment 6,573.00            6,573.00    

10/31/11 75 Churchill County School District Olweus Bullying  surveys 1,655.00            1,655.00    

12/2/11 76 So. Lyon Medical Center OSHA survey/requirements 4,300.00            4,300.00    

1/30/12 77 Lyon Co. School District Buses: 11 for video security & 28 for  VHS/VCR units 48,438.00          48,438.00  

1/30/12 78 Lincoln County School Dist Fencing and Gate 10,650.00          10,650.00  

1/30/12 79 Mineral County 2 Dispatch Radios/ 4 Repeaters 10,000.00          10,000.00  

1/30/12 80 Pershing County 2012 NV Prima Conference attendance (2) 1,200.00            1,200.00    

1/30/12 81 Sun Valley GID 2012 NV Prima Risk Conf attend(2), Henderson 813.00               813.00       

1/30/12 82 Douglas County Prima Annual Conf, Nashville (2) attendance 5,900.00            5,900.00    

2/3/12 83 Carson City School District Upgrade for DVR monitoring system 4,000.00            4,000.00    

2/3/12 84 Churchill CSD Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 1,156.00            1,156.00    

2/3/12 85 Douglas County NV Prima Training 1,061.20            1,061.20    

2/3/12 86 Kingsbury GID Attendance at PRIMA conference 775.00               775.00       

2/3/12 87 Storey County Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 572.28               572.28       

2/21/12 88 Churchill County Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 898.31               898.31       

2/21/12 89 Churchill Co. School District Security Cameras for school buses 10,000.00          10,000.00  

2/21/12 90 Elko Co. Sheriff's office Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 1,890.00            1,890.00    

2/21/12 91 Elko Co. Sheriff's office Skid Car Equipmnt & Training /Dodge Durango 10,000.00          10,000.00  

2/21/12 92 Esmeralda Co. School Dist. Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 378.72               378.72       

2/21/12 93 City of Mesquite Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 300.00               300.00       

2/21/12 94 Pershing County SD Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 652.12               652.12       

2/21/12 95 Storey County Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 794.67               794.67       

2/21/12 96 White Pine Co. Sheriff's Office Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 929.92               929.92       

2/24/12 97 Mineral CSD Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 913.00               913.00       

3/2/12 98 Nevada Rural Housing Auth'y Attendance at NV PRIMA conference 455.00               455.00       

3/2/12 99 Mineral Co. Fire Dept Hi Visibility Jackets/ Compliance related 9,960.00            9,960.00    

3/19/12 100 Pershing General Hospital Adv. Essential Mgmt. Skills/ Pact 182.59               182.59       149,623.76    FY 11/12

569,009.61    Total Grants Issued all years

Risk Management Grants 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Employee Head Count 12,415

NEVADA POOL PACT



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Utilization Definitions

NEVADA POOL PACT

Utilization Formula:
(Number of Services Requested / Number of Days in the Reporting 

Period) * 365 / Employee Head Count

Annualized Member Usage:
Measures the number of individual members requesting assistance for 

personal use.

Annualized Organizational Usage:
Measures organizational contact a member has with the EAP, including 

web site hits and training attendance.

Annualized Utilization Rate:
Combination of member usage and organization usage.

Page 2 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Total Usage

NEVADA POOL PACT

 Member Usage # % YTD

 61.0% 152  152 Face to Face Consultation Referral

 0.4% 1  1 Telephone Counseling

 18.1% 45  45 Clinical Assessment

 0.8% 2  2 WorkLife

 1.2% 3  3 Financial

 14.1% 35  35 Legal

 4.0% 10  10 General Information & Referral

 0.4% 1  1 Benefit Integration

 100.0% 249  249 Totals

 2.0% Annualized Member Usage  2.0%

LengthEvent Counts Organizational Usage Participants YTD Participant TotalsEvent Counts Length

LengthEvent Counts  4 Critical Incident Consultation  4

LengthEvent Counts  26 Critical Incident On-Site Consultation  3  26  12.00

LengthEvent Counts  32 Management Consultations  32

LengthEvent Counts  79 Training/Seminars  4  79  4.00

LengthEvent Counts  0 Professional Development / Coaching  0

LengthEvent Counts  605 Health Fairs / Open Enrollment                                                              5                           605                        63.0
LengthEvent Counts  0 Company Group Meetings  0  0  0.00

LengthEvent Counts  0 Program Orientation / Supervisor Training  0  0  0.00

LengthEvent Counts  470 Web Hits  470

LengthEvent Counts 1216 Totals                                                                                                 518                          710                       79.00

LengthEvent Counts  9.8% Annualized Organizational Usage

 Annualized Utilization Rate                                                 11.84%  

Page 3 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Referral Source

NEVADA POOL PACT

38.2%

19.3%
16.0%

8.8%
6.3%

11.3%

Other (Includes Clin
Assess)

Human Resources

Previous Member

Promotional Material

Family

All Other

Top Referral Sources

4.2%10Co-worker

Declined 5 2.1%

Family 6.3%15

Human Resources 19.3%46

Manager/Supervisor 2.1%5

Orientation 0.8%2

Other (Includes Clin Assess) 38.2%91

Previous Member 16.0%38

Promotional Material 8.8%21

Self-Referred 1.3%3

Website 0.8%2

# %Referral Sources

Page 4 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Member Services Demographics

NEVADA POOL PACT

Employee Work Status Age Gender

Employee / Dependent Status

Union Status

Non-Management  102

Management

Terminated

Retired

Student

 0

 0

 0

 5

Total

#

#

# #

#
 135

Non Union  22

Union  3

Total  25

20 and Under  26

21-30  20

31-40  53

41-50  72

51-60  55

Over 60  11

Declined  1

Total  238

Female  143

Male  71

Unspecified  24

Dependent  103

Employee  135

Total

Total

 238

 238

Declined  28

Page 5 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Geographic Breakdown

NEVADA POOL PACT

State Percent

NV  98.32%

Page 6 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Primary Presenting Issues

NEVADA POOL PACT

Unhealthy Habits Personal Life Management# # #

Alcohol  12 Anger Management  8 Academics  0

Drug  1 Anxiety  7 Adoption  0

Eating  1 Depression  17 Adult Care  0

Gambling  0 Grief/Loss  13 Child Care  0

Internet  0 LGBT  0 Concierge Services  0

Sex  0 Self-Esteem  0 Financial  2

Tobacco  0 Spiritual/Religious Concerns  0 Health Issues  0

Other  0 Stress  19 Housing  1

#Childhood Victimization/Trauma  8 Legal  34

ADD/ADHD  0 Other  9 Pregnancy/Prenatal  0

#Behavior Problems  3 Relationship Transportation  0

Learning Disabilities  1 Divorce/Separation  10 Other  0

Other  5 Family  30 Workplace Issues #

#Member Inquiry Parent-Child  4 Absenteeism  0

EAP Benefit Inquiry  0 Spouse/Significant Other  28 Conflict - Co-worker(s)  1

HRA/Stress Assessment  0 Other  2 Conflict - Management  2

#Other  1 Risk of Violence Critical Incident  0

#Declined Abuse of Child/Elder/Disabled  0 Harassment in Workplace  0

Declined to Share  0 Domestic Violence  1 Loss/Reduction  1

Homicidal Thoughts  0 Performance  3

Self-Harming Behavior  0 Stress  11

Suicidal Thoughts  0 Other  1

Threat of Workplace Violence  2

Other  0

Page 7 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Primary Assessed Issues

NEVADA POOL PACT

Unhealthy Habits Personal Life Management# # #

Alcohol  9 Anger Management  6 Academics  0

Drug  0 Anxiety  2 Adoption  0

Eating  0 Depression  2 Adult Care  0

Gambling  0 Grief/Loss  3 Child Care  0

Internet  0 LGBT  0 Concierge Services  0

Sex  0 Self-Esteem  0 Financial  0

Tobacco  0 Spiritual/Religious Concerns  0 Health Issues  0

Other  0 Stress  2 Housing  0

#Childhood Victimization/Trauma  1 Legal  0

ADD/ADHD  0 Other  0 Pregnancy/Prenatal  1

#Behavior Problems  1 Relationship Transportation  0

Learning Disabilities  0 Divorce/Separation  7 Other  0

#Other  0 Family  9 Workplace Issues

#Member Inquiry Parent-Child  8 Absenteeism  0

EAP Benefit Inquiry  0 Spouse/Significant Other  0 Conflict - Co-worker(s)  2

HRA/Stress Assessment  0 Other  3 Conflict - Management  1

#Other  0 Risk of Violence Critical Incident  1

#Declined Abuse of Child/Elder/Disabled  0 Harassment in Workplace  0

Declined to Share  0 Domestic Violence  0 Loss/Reduction  0

Homicidal Thoughts  0 Performance  2

Self-Harming Behavior  0 Stress  16

Suicidal Thoughts  1 Other  3

Threat of Workplace Violence  1

Other  1

Page 8 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Face to Face Closed Cases & Referrals

NEVADA POOL PACT

 Total Closed Authorizations

 Average Number of Used Sessions

Statistics

 147

 2.4

 Face to Face Consultation Referral

 Management Referral - Informal

   93.5%

 0  0.0%

 Management Referral - Formal  7                       2.4%

 Management Referral - Mandatory

 Total

12                      4.1%

 295                    100.0%

# %

%#

Closed Sessions

Resolution Statistics

 Resolved within EAP  47  36.4%

 Member Referred  66  51.2%

 Member Withdrew  16  12.4%

Referral

 Community Resources  13

 Insurance Plan  45

 Total  58

 276

 IP Medical

 IP Psychiatric

 OP Chem Dep

 OP Medical

 OP Psychiatric

 Licensed Counselor

 Psychiatrist

 Psychologist

 Residential CD

 Social Worker

 12 Step Group

 Career Counseling

 Community Agency

 Education Class

 Financial

 Legal

 Self Help Group

Referrals Provided

 WorkLife

 Group Treatment

 Other

 Total

Total

 IP Chem Dep  0

 0

 0

 2

 3

 16

 42

 7

 0

 12

 2

 0

 0

 1

 1

 Human Resources  0

 0

 2

 3

 0

 2

 106

 13

Page 9 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Web Content Access

NEVADA POOL PACT

#Topic Analysis

My Family  101

My Health  418

My Time  19

My Money  94

My Benefits  398

Manager Services  64

Total  1,094

 Web Log In  470

0

40

80

120

160

200

240

280

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

97
105

71

52

39

69
78 76

65 63

121

258Total Website 

Pages Visited

Page 10 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Management Consultations & Referrals

NEVADA POOL PACT

%CountFormal ReferralsCount Informal Referrals %

Alcohol / Drug  0 Alcohol / Drug  1 0.0%  14.3%

Anger Management  0 Anger Management  1 0.0%  14.3%

Code of Conduct  0 Code of Conduct  1 0.0%  14.3%

Emotional / Psychological Stability  0 Emotional / Psychological Stability  0 0.0%  0.0%

Fitness for Duty  0 Fitness for Duty  0 0.0%  0.0%

Grief / Trauma  0 Grief / Trauma  0 0.0%  0.0%

Harassment in the Workplace  0 Harassment in the Workplace  0 0.0%  0.0%

Performance Issues  0 Performance Issues  4 0.0%  57.1%

Positive Alcohol / Drug Screen  0 Positive Alcohol / Drug Screen  0 0.0%  0.0%

Substance Abuse Professional / Dept. of Transportation  0 Substance Abuse Professional / Dept. of Transportation  0 0.0%  0.0%

Suicidal  0 Suicidal  0 0.0%  0.0%

Threat of Violence  0 Threat of Violence  0 0.0%  0.0%

Other  0 Other  0 0.0%  0.0%

Total  0 Total  7 100.0%  100.0%

%CountConsult TypeCountMandatory Referrals %

Alcohol / Drug  5 Alcohol / Drug  4 41.7%  12.5%

Anger Management  4 Anger Management  5 33.3%  15.6%

Code of Conduct  1 Code of Conduct  10 8.3%  31.3%

Emotional / Psychological Stability  0 Emotional / Psychological Stability  1 0.0%  3.1%

Fitness for Duty  0 Fitness for Duty  1 0.0%  3.1%

Grief / Trauma  1 Grief / Trauma  1 8.3%  3.1%

Harassment in the Workplace  0 Harassment in the Workplace  2 0.0%  6.3%

Performance Issues  0 Performance Issues  3 0.0%  9.4%

Positive Alcohol / Drug Screen  0 Positive Alcohol / Drug Screen  1 0.0%  3.1%

Substance Abuse Professional / Dept. of Transportation  0 Substance Abuse Professional / Dept. of Transportation  0 0.0%  0.0%

Suicidal  0 Suicidal  0 0.0%  0.0%

Threat of Violence  1 Threat of Violence  1 8.3%  3.1%

Other  0 Other  3 0.0%  9.4%

Total  12 Total  32 100.0%  100.0%

Page 11 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

WorkLife Cases

NEVADA POOL PACT

0

0.2

0.4

0.6

0.8

1

A
d
u
lt 

C
a
re

B
a
si

c 
N

e
e
d
s

1 1

Case Type Number

Adult Care

Care Kits

Child Care

Concierge

Convenience

Elder Care

Financial Counseling

Identity Theft

Legal Services

Will Kits

 1

 0

 0

 0

 0

 0

 0

 0

 0

 0

Basic Needs

Research Request

 2Total

 0

 1

Page 12 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

WorkLife Provider Consultations

NEVADA POOL PACT

Provider Called Sent

Daily Living  2  2

Child Care  0  0

Residential Adult Care  0  0

In-Home Adult Care  0  0

Support Services  0  0

Caregiver Support  1  1

Total  3  3

0

0.4

0.8

1.2

1.6

2

Daily Living Caregiver Support

2

1

2

1 Called
Sent

Page 13 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Training Overview

NEVADA POOL PACT

Date HoursParticipantsLocationAccount / DivisionName of Seminar

03/31/2011 NEVADA POOL PACT MUNICIPALITIES ,  30Working with Different 

Personalities

1.00

06/22/2011 NEVADA POOL PACT MUNICIPALITIES ,  23Respect in the Workplace 1.00

09/27/2011 NEVADA POOL PACT TOWNS/ SPECIAL 

DISTRICTS/ OTHERS

Webinar,  19Boundaries in the Workplace 1.00

12/14/2011 NEVADA POOL PACT TOWNS/ SPECIAL 

DISTRICTS/ OTHERS

Webinar PDT,  7The Balancing Act 1.00

Total  79  4.00

Page 14 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Critical Incident On-Site Services Overview

NEVADA POOL PACT

Date Reason Account / Division Location Participants Hours

01/31/2011 Homicide NEVADA POOL PACT HOSPITALS Mesquite, NV 4 0.00

02/01/2011 Homicide NEVADA POOL PACT HOSPITALS Mesquite, NV 5 9.00

06/03/2011 Workplace Shooting NEVADA POOL PACT 

MUNICIPALITIES

Fallon NV 17 3.00

Total  26  12.00

Page 15 



Reporting Period 01/01/2011 - 12/31/2011

Critical Incident Consultation Overview

NEVADA POOL PACT

Date Reason Location Priority

01/25/2011 Mesquite, NVHomicide Level 1

06/03/2011 Fallon, NVWorkplace Shooting Level 1

09/18/2011 Ely, NVDeath (grief)

Page 16 



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
 

AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, LLC 
 
 
This Employee Assistance Program Services Agreement (hereinafter, the "Services Agreement") is made and entered into by and 
between Aetna Behavioral Health, LLC, on behalf of itself and its affiliates (hereinafter "Company"), and Nevada Public Agency 
Insurance Pool and Public Agency Compensation Trust (hereinafter "Customer"). 
 
WHEREAS, Customer has established an employee assistance program (“EAP”) for certain eligible individuals; and 
 
WHEREAS, Customer also desires to engage the services of Company to provide EAP services and WorkLife and other 
additional EAP services which are defined in this Agreement (the “Services”),  
 
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises stated herein and other good and valuable consideration, 
the parties hereby enter into this Services Agreement.  This Services Agreement includes and incorporates by reference the 
attached General Conditions Addendum, Description of EAP Services Addendum, Description of Work/Life Services 
Addendum, and Service and Fee Schedule and Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) Addendum.  
 
Customer hereby elects to receive the Services set forth in the Service and Fee Schedule attached hereto and made a part hereof.  
The corresponding Service Fees are specified in the Service and Fee Schedule, which shall be amended for future periods, in 
accordance with Section 3 of the General Conditions Addendum, to reflect the Services elected and corresponding Service Fees 
for such periods.  
 
This Services Agreement constitutes the complete and exclusive contract between the parties and supersedes any and all prior or 
contemporaneous oral or written communications or proposals not expressly included herein.  Notwithstanding Section 3 of the 
General Conditions Addendum, no modification or amendment of this Services Agreement shall be valid unless contained in a 
writing signed by a duly authorized representative of Company and a duly authorized representative of Customer.  By executing 
this Services Agreement, Customer acknowledges and agrees that it has reviewed all terms and conditions incorporated into this 
Services Agreement and intends to be legally bound by the same. 

EAP  1



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
The Effective Date of this Services Agreement shall be:   July 1, 2012. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Services Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized 
representatives. 
 
NEVADA PUBLIC AGENCY INSURANCE 
POOL AND PUBLIC AGENCY 
COMPENSATION TRUST 

 AETNA BEHAVIORAL HEALTH, LLC 

 
Signed By: 
 
 

  
Signed By:          

Printed Name  Printed Name:  Hyong Un, MD 
Title  Title:     Head of EAP and Chief Psychiatric Officer 
Date  Date: 
 

 
 
 
NEVADA PUBLIC AGENCY INSURANCE 
POOL AND PUBLIC AGENCY 
COMPENSATION TRUST 
 
Signed By: 
 
 
Printed Name 
Title 
Date 
 

EAP  2



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

GENERAL CONDITIONS ADDENDUM 
 
 
Definitions: In this General Conditions Addendum and in all attachments to this Services Agreement: 
 
(A) "Employee" means any person eligible to receive Services under this Agreement by virtue of being a current employee of 

Customer, and not designated a temporary employee, and eligible family members, including domestic partners, household 
members, dependents (includes adult children up to the age of 26), employees of subsidiaries and affiliates of Customer who 
are reported by Customer, in writing, to Company for inclusion in this Services Agreement.  The term “Employee” also 
refers to ex-employees of Customer determined by Customer (and reported, in writing, to Company) to be eligible to receive 
Services pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (COBRA).   

 
(B) “Dependent” means any person eligible to receive Services under this Agreement as a dependent of an Employee.  This 

includes adult children up to age 26.   
 
(C) “Members” means Employees and Dependents covered for Services. 
 
(D) The term “Service Fees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3 of this General Conditions Addendum.   
 
(E) The term “Services Agreement Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2 of this General Conditions Addendum. 
 
(F) The term “Services” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 1 of this General Conditions Addendum. 
 
The following are the terms and conditions under which Company agrees to perform Services for Customer: 
 
1. Purpose.  Customer will purchase and Company will provide to Customer the Services designated in this Services 

Agreement and such other services Customer requests of Company and Company agrees in writing to perform, as described 
in the Service and Fee Schedule and the Description of Services Addenda (the "Services"). 

 
2. Term.  The initial term of this Services Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue to the first 

anniversary of the Effective Date, unless terminated by either party in accordance with Section 4 of this General Conditions 
Addendum.  Following the initial term, this Services Agreement shall be automatically renewed from year to year, unless 
terminated by either party in accordance with Section 4 of this General Conditions Addendum.  The initial term and 
subsequent year to year renewals shall hereafter be referred to as “Services Agreement Periods.”  

 
3. Service Fees; Renewals.  The Service Fees payable by Customer to Company for the Services shall be determined in 

accordance with the Service and Fee Schedule identified in this Services Agreement.  No Services other than those 
identified in the Service and Fee Schedule are included in the Service Fees.  The Services to be provided by Company and 
the Service Fees may be amended by Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Service and Fee 
Schedule. 

 
4. Termination.  The Services Agreement may be terminated by Company or the Customer as follows: 
 

(A) Legal Prohibition - If any state or other jurisdiction enacts a law which prohibits the continuance of this Services 
Agreement, or an existing law is interpreted to prohibit the continuance of this Services Agreement, this Services 
Agreement shall terminate automatically as to such state or jurisdiction on the effective date of such law or 
interpretation; provided, however, that if only a portion of this Services Agreement is prohibited by such law, only that 
portion of this Services Agreement shall be affected, and this Services Agreement shall be construed in all respects as if 
such invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted. 

 
(B) Customer Termination - Customer may terminate this Services Agreement with respect to all Employees (including their 

Dependents) or any group of Employees included under this Services Agreement or any subsidiary or affiliate of 
Customer that is covered under this Services Agreement by giving Company at least ninety (90) days written notice 
stating when, after the date of such notice, such termination shall become effective. 

 
(C) Company Termination - 

EAP  3



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
(1) Company may terminate this Services Agreement by giving to Customer at least ninety (90) days written notice 

stating when, after the date of such notice, such termination shall become effective. 
 

(2) If Customer fails to pay Service Fees by the Payment Due Date, Company shall have the right to suspend Services 
until the Service Fees have been paid.  Company may terminate this Services Agreement immediately upon 
transmission of notice to Customer by mail, facsimile transmission or other means of communication (including 
electronic mail) if (a) Customer fails to pay such Service Fees within five (5) business days of such notice of unpaid 
Service Fees by Company, (b) Company determines that Customer will not meet its obligation to pay such Service 
Fees within such five (5) business days, and/or (c) Company determines that Customer is in material default, or 
substantial breach, of one or more of its obligations under this Services Agreement. 

 
(3) Any acceptance by Company of funds or Service Fees described in paragraph 3 above, after the grace periods 

specified therein have elapsed and prior to any action by Company to suspend Services or terminate this Services 
Agreement, shall not constitute a waiver of Company's right to suspend Services or terminate this Services 
Agreement in accordance with this section with respect to any other failure of Customer to meet its obligations 
hereunder. 

 
5. Customer's Responsibilities.  Where applicable, and on or before the Effective Date, Customer shall furnish to Company a 

listing of Employees (by zip code of each Employee’s place of residence).  Thereafter, Customer shall supply to Company, 
on a monthly basis, Employee counts in a form and manner as reasonably determined by Company.  Company shall not be 
responsible in any manner for any delay or error in the provision of Services caused by the Customer’s failure to furnish 
accurate Employee counts in a timely fashion.  

 
6. Services.  Company shall perform the Services set forth in the Service and Fee Schedule and the Description of Services 

Addenda identified in this Services Agreement. Customer acknowledges that Company may utilize the services of external 
contractors in performing these Services. 

 
7. Records.  Company or one of its affiliates or authorized agents, may, at its own discretion, use Documentation (defined 

herein) for legitimate EAP related purposes such as: provider payment and fraud prevention; quality 
improvement/management assessment; fulfilling certain state and federal requirements; and statistical research.  The term 
“Documentation” refers to all documents, records, reports, and data, including data recorded in Company's data processing 
systems, related to the receipt, processing, and payment of EAP provider claims for Services provided, including all claim 
histories. 

 
8. Indemnification. 
 

(A) Company shall indemnify and hold harmless Customer, its directors, officers, employees (acting in the course of their 
employment, but not as Members) for that portion of any third party loss, liability, damage, expense, settlement, cost or 
obligation (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) caused solely and directly by Company’s willful misconduct, criminal 
conduct, breach of this Services Agreement, fraud, breach of fiduciary responsibility (as applicable), or failure to comply 
with Section 6 above, related to or arising out of the Services provided under this Services Agreement. 

 
(B) Except as provided in (A) above, Customer shall indemnify and hold harmless Company, its affiliates and their 

respective directors, officers, and employees for that portion of any third party loss, liability, damage, expense, 
settlement, cost or obligation (including reasonable attorney’s fees): (i) which was caused solely and directly by 
Customer’s willful misconduct, criminal conduct, breach of this Services Agreement, fraud, breach of fiduciary 
responsibility (as applicable), or failure to comply with Section 6 above,  related to or arising out of this Services 
Agreement or Customer’s role as employer; (ii) in connection with the release or transfer of Member-identifiable 
information to Customer or a third party designated by Customer, or the use or further disclosure of such information by 
Customer or such third party; or  (iii) resulting from or arising out of claims, demands or lawsuits brought against 
Company in connection with Services provided under this Services Agreement. 

 
(C) The party seeking indemnification under (A) or (B) above must notify the indemnifying party within 20 days in writing 

of any actual or threatened action, suit or proceeding to which it claims such indemnification applies.  Failure to so 
notify the indemnifying party shall not be deemed a waiver of the right to seek indemnification, unless the actions of the 

EAP  4



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

indemnifying party have been prejudiced by the failure of the other party to provide notice within the required time 
period. 

 
The indemnifying party may then take steps to be joined as a party to such proceeding, and the party seeking 
indemnification shall not oppose any such joinder.  Whether or not such joinder takes place, the indemnifying party shall 
provide the defense with respect to claims to which this Section applies and in doing so shall have the right to control the 
defense and settlement with respect to such claims. 

 
The party seeking indemnification may assume responsibility for the direction of its own defense at any time, including 
the right to settle or compromise any claim against it without the consent of the indemnifying party, provided that in 
doing so it shall be deemed to have waived its right to indemnification except in cases where the indemnifying party has 
declined to defend against the claim. 

 
(D) Customer and Company agree that, except for counseling services provided by an EAP clinician employed by Company: 

(i) Company does not render medical services or treatments to Members; (ii) neither Customer nor Company is 
responsible for the health care that is delivered by contracting health care providers; (iii) contracted health care providers 
are solely responsible for the health care they deliver to Members; (iv) contracted health care providers are not the 
agents or employees of Customer or Company; and (v) the indemnification obligations of (A) or (B) above do not apply 
to any portion of any loss, liability, damage, expense, settlement, cost or obligation caused by the acts or omissions of 
contracted health care providers with respect to Members. 

 
(E) The indemnification obligations under (A) above shall not apply to that portion of any loss, liability, damage, expense, 

settlement, cost or obligation caused by Company’s act or omission undertaken at the direction of Customer (other than 
Services described in this Services Agreement).  The indemnification obligations under (B) above shall not apply to that 
portion of any loss, liability, damage, expense, settlement, cost or obligation undertaken by Customer at the direction of 
Company, or by any failure, refusal, or omission to act, directed by Company.  

 
(F) The indemnification obligations under this Section 8 shall terminate upon the expiration of this Agreement, except as to 

any matter concerning which a claim has been asserted by notice to the other party at the time of such expiration or 
within two (2) years thereafter. 

 
9. Remedies.   Neither party shall be liable to the other for any consequential, incidental or punitive damages whatsoever. 
 
10. Binding Arbitration of Certain Disputes.  Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the 

breach, termination, or validity thereof, except for temporary, preliminary, or permanent injunctive relief or any other form 
of equitable relief, shall be settled by binding arbitration in Hartford, CT administered by the American Arbitration 
Association ("AAA") and conducted by a sole arbitrator in accordance with the AAA's Commercial Arbitration Rules 
("Rules").  The arbitration shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-16, to the exclusion of state laws 
inconsistent therewith or that would produce a different result, and judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be 
entered by any court having jurisdiction thereof.  Except as may be required by law or to the extent necessary in connection 
with a judicial challenge, or enforcement of an award, neither a party nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, 
record or results of an arbitration.  Fourteen (14) calendar days before the hearing, the parties will exchange and provide to 
the arbitrator (a) a list of witnesses they intend to call (including any experts) with a short description of the anticipated direct 
testimony of each witness and an estimate of the length thereof, and (b) premarked copies of all exhibits they intend to use at 
the hearing.  Depositions for discovery purposes shall not be permitted.  The arbitrator may award only monetary relief and 
is not empowered to award damages other than compensatory damages. 

 
11. Confidentiality. 
 

(A) Each party acknowledges that performance of this Services Agreement may involve access to and disclosure of data, 
rates, procedures, materials, lists, systems and information (collectively "Confidential Information") belonging to the 
other.  The parties further acknowledge and agree that Company operates in a highly regulated and competitive 
environment and that the unauthorized disclosure or use of Confidential Information will cause irreparable harm  and 
significant injury to Company which will be difficult to measure with certainty or to compensate through monetary 
damage.  Accordingly, the parties agree that injunctive or other equitable relief shall be appropriate in the event of any 
breach by the Customer or their agents related to Confidential Information, in addition to such other remedies as may be 

EAP  5



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

available to Company at law.  No Confidential Information shall be  disclosed to any third party other than 
representatives of such party who have a need to know such Information, provided that such representatives are 
informed of the confidentiality provisions hereof and agree to abide by them.  All such Information must be maintained 
in strict confidence.  In addition, each party will maintain the confidentiality of EAP records and confidential client 
information as required by law.  Upon termination of this Services Agreement, each party, upon the request of the other, 
will return or destroy all copies of all of the other's Confidential Information in its possession or control except to the 
extent such Information must be retained pursuant to applicable law, provided, however, that Company may retain 
copies of any such Information it deems necessary for the defense of litigation concerning the Services it provided under 
this Services Agreement.  Customer agrees that Company may make lawful references to Customer in its marketing 
activities and in informing EAP providers as to the organizations and plans for which Services are to be provided.  Each 
party will execute and cause its employees and agents to execute any documents the other reasonably requires in 
connection with this confidentiality provision.  

 
(B) Customer acknowledges that compliance with the provisions of the foregoing paragraph (A) are necessary to protect the 

business and good will of Company and its affiliates and that any actual or prospective breach will irreparably cause 
damage to Company or its affiliates for which money damages may not be adequate.  Customer therefore agrees that if 
Customer breaches or attempts to breach paragraph (A) hereof, Company or an affiliate shall be entitled to obtain 
temporary, preliminary and permanent equitable relief, without bond, to restrain such breaches, together with any and all 
other legal and equitable remedies available under applicable law or under this Services Agreement.  Company shall be 
entitled to recover from Customer the attorneys' fees and costs Company expends in any action related to such breach or 
attempted breach.   

 
12. Relationship of the Parties.  It is understood and agreed that Company is an independent contractor with respect to all 

Services being performed pursuant to this Services Agreement.  Company makes no guarantee and disclaims any obligation 
to make any specific EAP providers or any particular number of EAP providers available for use by Members.  

 
13. Subcontractors.  The work to be performed by Company under this Services Agreement may, at Company’s sole discretion, 

be performed in part through a subsidiary or affiliate or under a contract with an organization as determined by Company.   
 
14. Communications.  Company and Customer shall be entitled to rely upon any communication believed by them to be 

genuine and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties. 
 

Neither party shall be bound by any notice, direction, requisition or request unless and until it shall have been received in 
writing at (i) in the case of Aetna, 4300 Centreway Place, Mail Code: 756, Arlington, TX 76018, Attention: Product Head—
Employee Assistance Program, (ii) in the case of the Customer, at the address shown below, or (iii) at such other address as 
either party specifies for the purposes of this Services Agreement by notice in writing addressed to the other party.  Notices 
or communications shall be sent by certified mail, return receipt requested. 
 
Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool and Public Agency Compensation Trust  
201 South Roop Street, Suite 102 
Carson City, NV  89703 
Attn:  Wayne Carlson 

 
15. Force Majeure.  Company shall not be liable for any failure to meet any of the obligations or provide any of the Services or 

benefits specified or required under this Services Agreement where such failure to perform is due to any contingency beyond 
the reasonable control of Company, its employees, officers or directors.  Such contingencies include, but are not limited to: 
acts or omissions of any person or entity not employed or reasonably controlled by Company, its employees, officers or 
directors; acts of God; fires; wars; accidents; labor disputes or shortages; governmental laws, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
or the opinions rendered by any Court, whether valid or invalid. 

 
16.  Compliance.   Customer and Company shall remain, throughout the term of this Services Agreement, in compliance with all 

applicable federal and state and federal laws and regulations, including HIPAA, related to this Services Agreement and the 
Services to be provided hereunder.   Accordingly the parties agree to the terms of the HIPAA Business Associate Agreement, 
which is attached hereto as Appendix A and made a part of this agreement hereof. 

 

EAP  6



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

17. Miscellaneous.  The Services Agreement shall be governed by and interpreted in accordance with applicable federal law.  To 
the extent such federal law does not govern, this Services Agreement shall be governed by Connecticut law and the courts in 
such state shall have sole and exclusive jurisdiction of any dispute related hereto or arising hereunder.  No delay or failure of 
either party in exercising any right hereunder shall be deemed to constitute a waiver of that right.  There are no intended third 
party beneficiaries of this Services Agreement.  The headings in this Services Agreement are for reference only and shall not 
affect the interpretation or construction of this Services Agreement. 

 

EAP  7



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

DESCRIPTION OF EAP SERVICES ADDENDUM 
 
 
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Services Agreement, the EAP Services available from Company are described below.  
Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, only the EAP Services selected by Customer in the Service and Fee Schedule (as 
modified by Company from time to time pursuant to Section 3 of the General Conditions Addendum) will be provided by 
Company.  Additional EAP Services may be provided at Customer's written request under the terms of this Services Agreement.   
 

1. UNLIMITED TELEPHONIC ACCESS:  Unlimited telephonic access to the Company EAP call center staff, available 
24 hours per day, 7 days per week, 365 days per year. 

2. COUNSELING SESSIONS:  A face-to-face clinical session of at least 45 minutes in duration with a contracted EAP 
provider.  Each member is entitled, annually, to the number of counseling sessions per problem as set forth herein in the 
Service and Fee Schedule (e.g., three counseling sessions per member per problem under the 3-Session EAP Model).   

3. PROVIDER NETWORK:  Appropriately credentialed and contracted mental health professionals (hereinafter “EAP 
providers”) qualified to provide Services to Company Members.  EAP Providers include, but are not limited to: social 
workers, licensed professional counselors, marriage and family therapists, master’s level psychiatric nurses and 
psychologists. 

4. TRAINING AND EDUCATION:  The term “Training and Education” refers to training, provided by Company, or a 
Company Contracted educator to the Customer, concerning general behavioral health and work/life issues.  This training 
may be provided in different ways, i.e. in-person, telephonically, or web-based.   

 EMPLOYEE ORIENTATION MEETINGS:  On-site meetings to acquaint Eligible Employees with the 
operation of the Employee Assistance Program and to encourage them to use the Employee Assistance 
Program. 

 SUPERVISOR ORIENTATION TRAINING:  Training programs for Eligible Employees who are 
providing supervision to others as part of their day-to-day duties.  The purpose of this training program 
will be to acquaint supervisors with the operation of the Employee Assistance Program and to motivate 
them to encourage Covered persons to use the Employee Assistance Program. 

 STANDARD TRAININGS:  On-site hours of EAP trainings on such topics as stress management, 
smoking cessation and effective communication at work.  Company will also provide web-based seminars, 
in which participants view the presentation through their web browser and listen to the audio through their 
telephone. 

 AWARENESS TRAININGS:  Awareness Trainings on topics such as Department of Transportation 
(DOT) Drug/Alcohol Awareness, Diversity in the Workplace, Drug Free Workplace, Sexual Harassment 
for Employees, and Violence in the Workplace. 

5. MANAGEMENT SERVICES: 

 MANAGEMENT CONSULTATION:  A telephonic resource for managers, supervisors, and human resources 
professionals to assist in identifying and resolving workplace issues and promoting a productive workforce.  Issues 
may include but are not limited to employee personal and family issues, behavioral health concerns, workplace 
conflict, workplace crisis and other disruptions, substance abuse, threats of violence and employee performance 
concerns.  This includes the provisions of guidance to the Customer in making voluntary referrals for employees to 
the EAP. 

 MANDATORY REFERRALS:  Case management to assist Customer and employees in addressing significant 
workplace performance issues.  Mandatory referrals are used to monitor compliance with the EAP provider’s 
recommendations, wherein the EAP, with appropriate executed release of information forms, confirms the 
employee’s participation in and compliance with the Program. 

EAP  8



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 DRUG FREE WORKPLACE SERVICES:  Suite of services to assist Customer in managing workplace related 
employee substance mis-use and/or disclosure of substance abuse in the workplace.  Services for general employer 
industries include Company EAP case management of mandatory referrals related to workplace impacted substance 
abuse, as well as management consultation services as described above.  Services for transportation related 
industries, such as employers who are regulated by DOT, FMCSA, FAA, FRA, FTA, PHMSA, etc., include 
substance abuse case management by a Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) for Department of Transportation 
regulation compliance.  Additional service for transportation regulated employees includes DOT training to meet 
Drug-Free Workplace regulations regarding drug and alcohol awareness available through American Substance 
Abuse Professionals (ASAP) or comparable SAP provider.  A variety of training formats are available, including 
on-site, on-line or video. 

 FITNESS FOR DUTY (FFD) CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION:  A Fitness for Duty Evaluation is a 
forensic evaluation completed by a specially trained psychologist, psychiatrist, outside the EAP, for the purpose of 
evaluating an employee’s ability to safely perform the functions of their job, assess organizational and behavioral 
risk, and provide a report recommending steps needed to be taken to minimize employer risk in returning the 
employee to work.  Typically, the evaluation includes some or all of the following: clinical interview, psychological 
testing, and collateral interviews, and it is not seen as therapy.  While the EAP does not directly conduct 
independent Fitness for Duty Evaluations, the EAP can assist Employers with decisions regarding the need for an 
independent Fitness for Duty Evaluation, and can recommend qualified FFD facilitator choices.  In addition, the 
EAP may facilitate the coordination with the FFD providers, and/or may upon request, review FFD paperwork 
before it is sent to the Employer.  However, it remains solely the Employer’s responsibility to decide whether to 
refer an employee for a Fitness for Duty Evaluation.  All decisions, regarding returning to work, retaining or 
dismissing employees remain with the Employer.  In addition, the Employer is responsible for working directly with 
the EAP identified FFD provider as well as directly making payment arrangements for the Fitness for Duty 
Evaluation.  

 SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROFESSIONAL (SAP) CONSULTATION AND CONTACT INFORMATION:  Upon 
request of Employer, for drug and alcohol cases that fall under the Department of Transportation (DOT) guidelines, 
Company shall provide initial and ongoing management consultation on DOT issues. Company will further provide 
contact information of local providers in our specialized network of qualified Substance Abuse Professionals. The 
Employer is responsible for choosing and working directly with the SAP, as well as performing Follow-up, 
Compliance and Aftercare attendance monitoring. The Employer is responsible for payment of the SAP and 
determines whether the employee or employer pays SAP fees as well as recommended treatment costs. 

 COMPREHENSIVE SUBSTANCE ABUSE PROFESSIONAL (SAP) SERVICES:  Upon request of Employer, for 
drug and alcohol cases that fall under the Department of Transportation (DOT) guidelines, Company shall provide 
initial and ongoing management consultation, initial and follow up SAP evaluation, as well as case management 
throughout the Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) aftercare recommendations. Company shall refer to a qualified 
SAP to conduct initial assessment and provide treatment recommendations, follow-up testing schedule, referral to 
treatment resource and compliance meeting, as defined by Department of Transportation (DOT) SAP guidelines. 
After an Eligible Employee’s return to the workplace, and upon request of Employer, Company shall provide 
ongoing case management through completion of aftercare recommendations. Per DOT Regulation, Employer has 
final decision-making authority regarding the return of an Eligible Employee to the workplace.  If a referral to a 
treatment resource occurs, Eligible Employee will be responsible for the cost of services provided by the treatment 
source. 

6. CRITICAL INCIDENT STRESS MANAGEMENT (CISM)/CRITICAL INCIDENT:  Company will make available to 
Employer, upon its request, at Employer’s premises, an EAP Provider to provide crisis counseling to Employer’s 
employees in the event of a catastrophic incident affecting a group of employees (e.g. robbery, assault in the workplace, 
employee death in the workplace, natural catastrophe affecting the workplace, employee injury in the workplace).   
Company will schedule a CISM at the worksite with a group of employees directly impacted by a critical incident as 
soon as clinically necessary following the traumatic event. 

 REDUCTION IN FORCE:  The process by which a work organization reduces its work force by 
eliminating jobs, such as closing subsidiaries or departments.  On-site services could be either group 
process or onsite counseling or a combination of both. 

EAP  9



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

7. INTERACTIVE WEB SITE: An online display/publication of materials and information that may otherwise be 
reviewed in hard copy, accessed through the Internet. 

8. COMMUNICATION AND PROMOTIONAL MATERIALS:  Information provided to Employees and management 
about EAP Services, including, in part, how EAP Services can be accessed for consultation and assistance.  The 
communications and promotional resources may include template e-mails, letters, flyers, wallet cards, and posters for 
Employees and management.  Certain of these materials can be customized by the Customer.  Company will provide 
reasonable quantities of printed materials in support of implementation and/or on an annual basis at Customer’s request 
at no cost.  Reasonable quantities are defined as up to 120% of the number of eligible Employees for items such as flyers 
or brochures; a quantity up to 5% of the number of eligible Employees for items such as posters; and a quantity of up to 
20% of anticipated attendees at health fairs for other promotional items.  Requests exceeding these quantities may incur 
an additional fee. 

9. MANAGEMENT REPORTS:  A specific collection of data and narrative information designed to inform the Customer 
about the overall utilization of the program.  Customer will receive such reports on a quarterly electronic basis.  If for 
any 2 consecutive reporting periods there is less than 1% utilization, reporting frequency will default to annual reporting.   

10. INTAKE MODEL: 

 STANDARD MODEL:  Initial intake calls answered by a care management associate /customer service 
representative. 

11. LEGAL, FINANCIAL, and IDENTITY THEFT SERVICES:  Services provided through the EAP that include: 

 Legal Service includes: 
a. ½ hour Initial Consultation with selected Plan Attorney on an unlimited number of new Legal Topics (each 

plan year) in any of the following areas: 
 General law (certain topic areas are excluded, including employment law, etc.) 
 Mediation Services 
 Special Needs, including emergency matters  
 Document preparation. 
b. If members choose to continue with the Plan attorney and hire that attorney on their own, they will receive 

25% off of the fees for services beyond the initial consultation (excluding flat legal fees, contingency fees, 
and plan mediator services).  

 

c. Services available during regular business hours (9 am to 8 pm EST Mon-Fri, federally recognized 
holidays excepted, 24/7 back-up service with on-call staff available), unless otherwise agreed to by the 
individual Plan Attorney; and   

d. All Initial Consultations (and discounted consultations) must be for legal matters related to the Employee 
and eligible household members.  

 

 
 Financial Service includes:      

a. ½ hour Initial Consultation with the selected Plan Financial Counselor on an unlimited number of new 
Financial Counseling Topics each plan year. 

b. Financial counseling topics include Budgeting, Credit, Debt, Retirement, College Planning, Buying vs. 
Leasing, Mortgages/Refinancing, Financial Planning, Tax Questions, Tax Preparation, IRS Matters, Tax 
Levies and Garnishments, Consumer Credit Counseling, and Community Services. 

c. A discount of 25% off the tax preparation services. 
d. Individual Employees have the option to purchase My Secure Advantage for a monthly nominal fee.    

 
 
 Identity Services include: 

a. 1-hour telephonic fraud resolution consultation for Identity Theft. 
b. Coaching and direction on prevention and restoring credit for victims of Identity Theft. 
c. Free Identity Theft Emergency Response Kit for victims of Identity Theft. 

EAP  10



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

d. Individual Employees have the option to purchase My Secure Advantage ID Protect for a monthly 
nominal fee.   

 

EAP  11



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

 
DESCRIPTION OF WORK/LIFE SERVICES ADDENDUM 

 
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Services Agreement, the WorkLife Services available from Company are described 
below.  Unless otherwise agreed to in writing, only the WorkLife Services selected by Customer in the Service and Fee 
Schedule (as modified by Company from time to time pursuant to Section 3 of the General Conditions Addendum) will be 
provided by Company.  Additional WorkLife Services may be provided at Customer's written request under the terms and 
conditions and at a fee mutually agreed to by the parties. 
 
1. UNLIMITED TELEPHONIC ACCESS:  Unlimited telephonic access to the call center staff, available 24 hours per day, 7 
days per week, 365 days per year  
 
2. CAREGIVING SERVICES:  Services that include consultation, information, education and referral services in connection 
with, in part, adoption, child care, parenting, temporary back-up care, summer care, special needs, high-risk adolescents, 
academic services, education loans, grandparents as parent, adult care, elder care, and disaster resources.  Resource packets (kits) 
may be included with this service.  
 

3.  PERSONAL SERVICES: Free educational materials, personalized referrals, and interactive web tools to assist with: 

A. Health & Wellness--Children’s health; women’s health; men’s health; seniors’ health; weight loss and nutrition; 
fitness and exercise programs; general health; safety; stress management; information on diseases and conditions; and 
more.  
B. Daily Life--Home improvement; pet care; consumer information; automotive services; relocation; travel; time 
management; cleaning services; and more.  

 
4. MEMBER WEBSITE:   

CORE MEMBER WEBSITE:  Access to customizable member website for free webinars, online worklife searches, 
concierge database, discount program, thousands of articles, videos, and tools on worklife and behavioral health topics. 

 

EAP  12



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

SERVICE AND FEE SCHEDULE 
 
Customer hereby elects to receive the Services designated below.    The below Service Fees shall be in effect for the first two (2) 
years of this Services Agreement, beginning upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, and, thereafter, if this Services 
Agreement is extended by the parties for any additional successive one year term(s), such Service Fees shall be reasonably 
negotiated by the parties for such successive one year term(s).  Notwithstanding the immediately preceding sentence, the below 
Service Fees shall be amended by Company, from time to time during the first two (2) years of this Agreement and for any future 
period(s) thereafter, in accordance with the terms of this Service and Fee Schedule. 
 

Services Service Fees 
 
EAP Session Model 
 

Unlimited Telephonic Access   
 
with 
 
Up to THREE (3) Face-to-Face Counseling 
Sessions per problem contract year 
 
with 
 
Legal and Financial Services 

 
Identity Theft Services 

 

 
 
 
$ 0% - 1% Utilization $0.95 pepm;  
1.1% - 2% Utilization $0.98 pepm;  
2.1% - 3% Utilization $1.03 pepm;  
3.1% - 4% Utilization $1.07 pepm;  
4.1% - 5% Utilization $1.11 pepm;  
5.1% - 6% Utilization $1.17 pepm;  
6.1% - 7% Utilization $1.21 pepm. 
 
Utilization calculation is based on Member Usage; plus, Management 
Consultations. 

 
Worklife Services, including Caregiving Services, 
Personal Services 
 
Core Member Website 
 

 
Included in the PEPM rates above 
 
 
 

 
Standard Training, Employee Orientation 
Meetings, Supervisor Orientation and Training 
 

 
Bank of eight (8) hours to be used for Employee Orientations, 
Supervisor Orientations and Trainings, and Standard on-site Training 
Services.   
 
Additional hours are $275.00 per hour, per clinician, plus a charge of 
$50.00 per hour of travel to and from the Customer’s location. 
  
Unlimited Web-based seminars. 
 

EAP  13



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

Services Service Fees 
 
Training and Education Cancellation Fee 

 
Failure to provide Company three (3) business days’ notice of 
cancellation of a previously scheduled training program may result in 
a charge of $275.00 per incident. 
 

Critical Incident Stress Management 
(CISM)/Critical Incident 

CISM Services are limited to 20 hours per incident.  There is no limit 
to the number of CISM incidents.  Additional hours are $325.00 per 
hour, per clinician. 
 

Critical Incident Stress Management 
(CISM)/Critical Incident Cancellation Fee 

Failure to provide Company with 24 hour notice of cancellation of 
Workplace Crisis Response Services will result in a charge of 
$325.00 per incident. 
 

Reduction in Force $325.00 per hour, per clinician, plus a charge of $50.00 per hour of 
travel to and from the Customer’s location.   

Reduction in Force Cancellation Fee Failure to provide Company with 24 hour notice of cancellation of 
Reduction in Force will result in a charge of $325.00 per incident. 

 
Drug Free Workplace Services 

Substance Abuse Case Management by a 
Substance Abuse Professional (SAP) and/or 
Department of Transportation regulation 
compliance  

 

 
$750.00 per case 
 
 
 

Awareness Training $ 350.00 per hour, per clinician, plus a charge of $50.00 per hour of 
travel to and from the Customer’s location. 

Awareness Training Cancellation Fee Failure to provide Company with 24 hours notice of cancellation of a 
previously scheduled awareness training program may result in a 
charge of $350.00 per incident. 
 

 
Company also may adjust Service Fees effective as of the date on which any of the following occurs. 
 
(1) If, for any Service, there is a 20% change in the number of Employees from the number of Employees assumed in 

Company’s quotation as of the Effective Date of this Services Agreement. 
(2) Change in Services—A material change in Services is requested or initiated by the Customer or by legislative action. 
(3) Premium Taxes or Assessments—If legislative or regulatory action results in the assessment of premium taxes or other like 

charges as it concerns those Services provided under the terms of this Agreement. 

EAP  14



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

HEALTH INSURANCE PORTABILITY AND ACCOUNTABILITY ACT (HIPAA) ADDENDUM  
  
This Addendum between Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool and Public Agency Compensation Trust (“Customer”) and Aetna 
Behavioral Health, LLC or any of its corporate affiliates (hereinafter “Company”) is an attachment to the Employee Assistance 
Program Services Agreement between Company and Customer (the “Agreement”) and is incorporated by reference therein. 
  
In conformity with the regulations at 45 C.F.R. Parts 160-164 (the “Privacy and Security Rules”), Company will, under the 
following conditions and provisions have access to, maintain, transmit, create and/or receive certain Protected Health 
Information:  
 
1.  Definitions.  The following terms shall have the meaning set forth below:  

(a)  C.F.R. “C.F.R.” means the Code of Federal Regulations. 
(b) Designated Record Set. “Designated Record Set” has the meaning assigned to such term in 45 C.F.R. 164.501. 
(c) Electronic Protected Health Information.  “Electronic Protected Health Information” means information that comes 

within paragraphs 1(i) or 1(ii) of the definition of “Protected Health Information”, as defined in 45 C.F.R. 160.103.  
(d) Individual. “Individual” shall have the same meaning as the term “individual” in 45 C.F.R. 164.501 and shall 

include a person who qualifies as personal representative in accordance with 45 C.F.R. 164.502 (g). 
(e) Protected Health Information “Protected Health Information” shall have the same meaning as the term “Protected 

Health Information”, as defined by 45 C.F.R. 160.103, limited to the information created or received by Company 
from or on behalf of Customer.  

(f) Required By Law. “Required By Law” shall have the same meaning as the term “required by law” in 45 C.F.R. 
164.501. 

(g) Secretary. “Secretary” shall mean the Secretary of the Department of Health and Human Services or his designee. 
(h) Security Incident.  “Security Incident” has the meaning assigned to such term in 45 C.F.R. 164.304. 
(i) Standard Transactions. “Standard Transactions” means the electronic health care transactions for which HIPAA 

standards have been established, as set forth in 45 C.F.R., Parts 160-162.  
 

 2.  Obligations and Activities of Company 
(a) Company agrees to not use or disclose Protected Health Information other than as permitted or required by this 

Addendum or as Required By Law.  
(b) Company agrees to use appropriate safeguards to prevent use or disclosure of the Protected Health Information 

other than as provided for by this Addendum. 
(c) Company agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known to Company of a use or 

disclosure of Protected Health Information by Company in violation of the requirements of this Addendum.   
(d) Company agrees to report to Customer any Security Incident or any use or disclosure of the Protected Health 

Information not allowed by this Addendum of which it becomes aware, except that, for purposes of the Security 
Incident reporting requirement, the term “Security Incident” shall not include inconsequential incidents that occur 
on a daily basis, such as scans, “pings” or other unsuccessful attempts to penetrate computer networks or servers 
containing electronic PHI maintained by Company. 

(e) Company agrees to ensure that any agent, including a subcontractor, to whom it provides Protected Health 
Information received from, or created or received by Company on behalf of Customer, agrees to the same 
restrictions and conditions that apply through this Addendum to Company with respect to such information.  

(f) Company agrees to provide access, at the request of Customer, and in the time and manner designated by Customer, 
to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set, to Customer or, as directed by Customer, to an 
Individual in order to meet the requirements under 45 C.F.R. 164.524. 

(g) Company agrees to make any amendment(s) to Protected Health Information in a Designated Record Set that the 
Customer directs or agrees to pursuant to 45 C.F.R. 164.526 at the request of Customer or an Individual, and in the 
time and manner designated by Customer. 

(h) Company agrees to make (i) internal practices, books, and records, including policies and procedures, relating to the 
use and disclosure of Protected Health Information received from, or created or received by Company on behalf of, 
Customer, and (ii) policies, procedures, and documentation relating to the safeguarding of Electronic Protected 
Health Information  available to the Secretary, in a time and manner designated by the Secretary, for purposes of the 
Secretary determining Customer’s compliance with the Privacy and Security Rules. 

(i) Company agrees to document such disclosures of Protected Health Information as would be required for Customer 
to respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health Information in 
accordance with 45 C.F.R. 164.528.  

EAP  15



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

(j) Company agrees to provide to Customer the information collected in accordance with this Section to permit 
Customer to respond to a request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures of Protected Health Information 
in accordance with 45 C.F.R. 164.528. 

(k) With respect to Electronic Protected Health Information, Company shall implement administrative, physical, and 
technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the 
Electronic Protected Health Information that it creates, receives, maintains, or transmits on behalf of Customer, as 
required by 45 C.F.R. Part 164, Subpart C. 

(l) With respect to Electronic Protected Health Information, Company shall ensure that any agent, including a 
subcontractor, to whom it provides Electronic Protected Health Information, agrees to implement reasonable and 
appropriate safeguards to protect it. 

(m) If Company conducts any Standard Transactions on behalf of Customer, Company shall comply with the applicable 
requirements of 45 C.F.R. Parts 160-162. 

     
3.  Permitted Uses and Disclosures by Company 
3.1  General Use and Disclosure  

Except as otherwise provided in this Appendix, Company may use or disclose Protected Health Information to perform 
its obligations under the Agreement, provided that such use or disclosure would not violate the Privacy and Security 
Rules if done by Customer or the minimum necessary policies and procedures of Customer.  

 
3.2  Specific Use and Disclosure Provisions  

(a) Except as otherwise provided in this Addendum, Company may use Protected Health Information for the proper 
management and administration of Company or to carry out the legal responsibilities of Company.   

(b) Except as otherwise provided in this Addendum, Company may disclose Protected Health Information for the 
proper management and administration of Company, provided that disclosures are Required By Law, or Company 
obtains reasonable assurances from the person to whom the information is disclosed that it will remain confidential 
and used or further disclosed only as Required By Law or for the purpose for which it was disclosed to the person, 
and the person notifies Company of any instances of which it is aware in which the confidentiality of the 
information has been breached. 

(c) Except as otherwise provided in this Appendix, Company may use Protected Health Information to provide data 
aggregation services to Customer as permitted by 45 C.F.R. 164.504(e)(2)(i)(B). 

(e) Company may use Protected Health Information to report violations of law to appropriate Federal and State 
authorities, consistent with 45 C.F.R. 164.502(j)(1). 

 
4.  Obligations of Customer.    
4.1  Provisions for Customer to Inform Company of Privacy Practices and Restrictions   

(a) Customer shall notify Company of any limitation(s) in its notice of privacy practices of Customer in accordance 
with 45 C.F.R. § 164.520, to the extent that such limitation(s) may affect Company’s use or disclosure of Protected 
Health Information.  

(b) Customer shall provide Company with any changes in, or revocation of, permission by Individual to use or disclose 
Protected Health Information, to the extent that such changes affect Company’s uses or disclosures of Protected 
Health Information.  

(c) Customer agrees that it will not furnish or impose by arrangements with third parties or other Covered Entities or 
Business Associates special limits or restrictions to the uses and disclosures of its PHI that may impact in any 
manner the use and disclosure of PHI by Company under the Services Agreement and this Addendum, including, 
but not limited to, restrictions on the use and/or disclosure of PHI as provided for in 45 C.F.R. 164.522. 

 
4.2   Permissible Requests by Customer 

Customer shall not request Company to use or disclose Protected Health Information in any manner that would not be 
permissible under the Privacy and Security Rules if done by Customer. 

 
5. Term and Termination  

(a) Term. The provisions of this Addendum shall take effect on the effective date of the Agreement  and shall terminate 
when protections are extended to Protected Health Information in accordance with Section 5(c) of this Addendum. 

(b) Termination for Cause. Without limiting the termination rights of the parties pursuant to the Agreement and upon 
Customer’s knowledge of a material breach by Company, Customer shall either:  

EAP  16



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 

EAP  17

i. Provide an opportunity for Company to cure the breach or end the violation, or terminate the Agreement, if 
Company does not cure the breach or end the violation within the time specified by Customer,  

ii. Immediately terminate the Agreement, if cure of such breach is not possible; 
iii. If neither termination nor cure is feasible, Customer shall report the violation to the Secretary. 

(c) Effect of Termination. 
The parties mutually agree that it is essential for Protected Health Information to be maintained after the expiration 
of the Agreement for regulatory and other business reasons.  The parties further agree that it would be infeasible for 
Customer to maintain such records because Customer lacks the necessary system and expertise. Accordingly, 
Customer hereby appoints Company as its custodian for the safe keeping of any record containing Protected Health 
Information that Company may determine it is appropriate to retain. Notwithstanding the expiration of the 
Agreement, Company shall extend the protections of this Addendum to such Protected Health Information, and limit 
further use or disclosure of the Protected Health Information to those purposes that make the return or destruction of 
the Protected Health Information infeasible  

  
6.  Miscellaneous  

(a) Regulatory References. A reference in this Addendum to a section in the Privacy and Security Rules means the 
section as in effect or as amended, and for which compliance is required.  

(b) Amendment. Upon the enactment of any law or regulation affecting the use or disclosure of Protected Health 
Information, the safeguarding of Electronic Protected Health Information, or the publication of any decision of a 
court of the United States or any state relating to any such law or the publication of any interpretive policy or 
opinion of any governmental agency charged with the enforcement of any such law or regulation, either party may, 
by written notice to the other party, amend the Agreement and this Addendum in such manner as such party 
determines necessary to comply with such law or regulation.  If the other party disagrees with such amendment, it 
shall so notify the first party in writing within thirty (30) days of the notice. If the parties are unable to agree on an 
amendment within thirty (30) days thereafter, then either of the parties may terminate the Agreement on thirty (30) 
days written notice to the other party.  

(c) Survival.  The respective rights and obligations of Company under Section 5(c) of this Addendum shall survive the 
termination of this Addendum.  

(d) Interpretation. Any ambiguity in this Addendum shall be resolved in favor of a meaning that permits Customer to 
comply with the Privacy and Security Rules. 

(e) No third party beneficiary. Nothing express or implied in this Addendum or in the Agreement is intended to confer, 
nor shall anything herein confer, upon any person other than the parties and the respective successors or assigns of 
the parties, any rights, remedies, obligations, or liabilities whatsoever.  

(f) Governing Law. This Addendum shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the same internal laws as 
that of the Agreement 

 
The parties hereto have executed this Addendum with the execution of the Agreement. 
  
 
 
 



Grant for Provision of  
Human Resources Management Services 

 
 
Grant No.: P/P 2012 
Effective Date: July 1, 2012 
 
Grantee: Pooling Resources, Inc.  

            201 S. Roop St., Suite 102  
Carson City, NV  89701 

 
Grantor: Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool and 
  Public Agency Compensation Trust 

 201 S. Roop St., Suite 102  
Carson City, NV  89701 

 

Total Grant Amount: $3,400,000 

 
GRANT SCHEDULE 
 
1. Purpose: The purpose of this Grant is to provide human resources management and consulting services 
to the Members of Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool (“POOL”) and of Public Agency Compensation 
Trust (“PACT”) in order to reduce liability. This effort shall be carried out generally as set forth in the 
Grantee’s proposed services stated in Exhibit A “Services to be Provided Effective July 1, 2012” attached to 
this grant. 
 
2. Term: The term of this Grant commences on July 1, 2012 and continues through thirty-six (36) months 
thereafter unless extended by mutual agreement. 
 
3. Terms and Conditions: This Grant is subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Exhibit B, 
entitled “POOL/PACT Grant General Terms and Conditions” attached hereto and any special terms and 
conditions in this Grant Schedule. 
 
4. Grants Officer’s Representative: The Grants Officer’s Representatives (GOR) representing 
POOL/PACT under this Grant are the respective chairs of POOL and PACT. 
 
5. Administrative Grants Office (AGO): The Administrative Grants Office for this Grant is the 
POOL/PACT administrative office, 201 S. Roop St., Suite 102, Carson City, NV  89701-4790, Phone: 
(775) 885-7475.



6.  Grant Funding: This Grant is funded equal monthly installments payable at the end of each month 
following completion of services. Grantor’s obligation to make payments to the Grantee is limited to only 
those funds obligated by this Grant or by modification to this Grant. Subject to availability of funds and 
continued satisfactory progress on the Grant as determined by Grantor, Grantor agrees to provide funding 
according to the following schedule: 
 
 Year 1:  $1,050,000 
 Year 2:  $1,071,000 

Year 3:  $1,093,000 
 

The Grantee shall notify the GOR in writing promptly whenever the total Grant amount is expected to 
exceed the needs of the Grantee for the project period by more than $50,000 or 5%, whichever is greater.  
 
7. Grant Oversight:  The POOL/PACT Executive Committee will oversee compliance with the terms of 
the grant with the advice of the POOL/PACT Human Resources Oversight Committee who will monitor 
services delivery, scope and quality and recommend any changes to POOL/PACT. 
 
8. Audit Requirements:  As a condition of this grant, all funds shall be audited annually by a qualified 
independent certified public accountant who shall report financial results and management 
recommendations to Grantor. 
 
9. Unexpended Grant Funds:  Any funds not expended for the purposes set forth in this Grant shall be 
subject to refund to Grantor, unless otherwise directed by Grantor.  Grantor may allow retention of 
unexpended funds for the purpose of carryover to future grants, expansion or redirection of services or 
service delivery methods or for any other purpose deemed appropriate by Grantor. 
 
10.  Relationship of Grantor and Grantee:  Nothing in this grant shall be construed to create an 
employee-employer relationship between Grantor and Grantee.  Grantee shall at all times be considered an 
independent contractor.  Grantee agrees to keep Grantor informed about the services it provides on a regular 
basis in the form of reports to Grantor and its Human Resources Oversight Committee.  In light of 
Grantee’s status as an independent contractor, Grantee acknowledges and agrees that Grantor is not 
responsible for obtaining and maintaining in effect workers compensation insurance covering Grantee.  In 
accordance with the provisions of Chapter 616A through 616D and 617 of the Nevada Revised Statues and 
Chapters 616 and 617 of the Nevada Administrative Code, Grantee agrees to provide Grantor a proper 
certificate certifying that it has obtained workers compensation insurance covering Grantee during the term 
of this grant.  Grantee agrees to pay any and all premiums necessary to keep said workers’ compensation 
insurance effective through the term of this grant.  
 
Grantor shall not be responsible for any of Grantee’s payroll, employee benefits, taxes, licenses, attorney’s 
fees or expense for Grantee’s activities not related to the services performed pursuant to this grant. 
 
11.  Insurance Requirements:  Grantee shall maintain general liability, auto liability and errors or 
omissions insurance in an amount of at least $1,000,000 each claim or occurrence and workers 
compensation insurance as required by law.  Certificates evidencing such coverage shall be provided to the 
AGO for each grant year.   
 
12.  Mutual Indemnification and Hold Harmless:  Grantee agrees to indemnify, defend and hold 
harmless Grantor with respect to any claims asserted as a result of any errors, omissions, torts, intentional 

. 



torts or other negligence unless the complained of actions were taken at the specific direction of Grantor.  
Grantor agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless Grantee with respect to any claims asserted as a 
result of any errors, omissions, torts, intentional torts or other negligence unless the complained of actions 
were taken at the specific direction of Grantee.   
 
13. Cooperation with Legal Counsel:  Grantee agrees to cooperate with Grantor’s legal counsel for 
Grantor’s members in matters affecting such members.  
 
14. Cooperation with Grantor’s Human Resources Oversight Committee:  Grantee agrees to cooperate 
with the Human Resources Oversight Committee regarding provision of the services required in the grant or 
any modifications made to the grant regarding such services. Grantor’s Human Resources Oversight 
Committee agrees to cooperate with Grantee. 
 
15. Records:  Grantee agrees that all records resulting from services under this grant and held by Grantee 
on behalf of Grantor shall be maintained and preserved in accordance with the provisions of NRS 239.005 
et seq. and shall remain the property of Grantor at all times and will be surrendered to Grantor upon 
termination or expiration of this grant.  Grantee shall be permitted to copy, at its own expense, such portions 
of the records as may be necessary. 
 
16.  Conflicts of Interest:  Grantee shall conform to Nevada laws regarding ethics and conflicts of interest 
and shall disclose any conflicts of interest. Grantor acknowledges that its Executive Director has formed the 
Grantee organization and serves as an officer and director in Grantee and thus may collect a fee for 
administration of this grant and therefore shall not consider this as conflict of interest in violation of this 
provision of the grant.  
 
17.  Restrictions on Grantee:  Without prior concurrence by Grantor’s Human Resources Oversight 
Committee and its Grants Officers, Grantee may not perform services to individual members of Grantor on 
a fee for service or grant basis. 
 
 
 
Grantor Acceptance of Grant    Grantee Acceptance of Grant 
 
 
 
__________________     ___________________ 
Michael Rebaleati       Wayne Carlson 
Chairman       President 
Nevada Public Agency Insurance Pool    Pooling Resources, Inc. 
 
 
 
__________________ 
Alan Kalt 
Chairman 
Public Agency Compensation Trust 



1 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 2012/2013 - 2014/2015 

Goal:  Serve as a business partner with POOL/PACT members to enhance their human resource programs, improve 
employee/employer relations, and reduce liability. 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE 
Develop and Revise Training 
Courses 

Review and update the most frequently presented courses each year with particular focus on training 
that is given annually to the same audience.   

Prepare new trainings on HR related subjects. 

Develop two new instructor-led training courses annually. 

Update and revise three instructor-led training courses annually. 

Remove outdated courses. 

Offer six regional trainings to be selected and prescheduled; topics to be identified prior to member 
Service Plan meetings beginning in May of each year.   

Provide regional workshops utilizing outside resources as appropriate.  Large training offerings may be 
offered in modules when appropriate. 

Offer four mandatory on-line training courses for new employees including a reporting process to 
monitor compliance.  Mandatory courses include:  Bullying in the Workplace; The Impact of Drugs & 
Alcohol in the Workplace; Unlawful Harassment; and Workplace Violence Awareness.   

Research and implement new methods to deliver HR trainings, including video conferencing and other 
technological methods.  

Enhance and Market Online 
Training 

Market and continue to promote direct services such as e-learning, HR Briefings, and webinars. 
 

Continue to Improve/Enhance 
Communications and Access 
to Information 

Conduct HR Briefings, which are 30-40 minute mini-training sessions covering the various aspects of a 
legal compliance or supervisory practice topic.  Briefings are informal discussions designed for small 
groups.  The number and frequency of HR Briefings will be based on the needs of the member 
organizations.  When the mini-trainings are conducted at the member’s facility, the business partner will 
also meet with HR and/or management staff to discuss issues of interest and concern to the member 



2 
 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE 
organizations regarding HR practices. 

HR Briefings on 20-30 topics for presentation by POOL/PACT HR Business Partners will be available on 
a continual basis.  Beginning in FY2012 of the new grant year, a minimum of three new briefing topics 
will be developed and all existing topics will be updated, as necessary, to be consistent with changes in 
law and regulations.  HR Briefings are included in the training catalog. 

Publish HR Alerts on current issues, legislative updates, case law updates on an as-needed basis.   

Publications will be distributed by e-mail link to the POOL/PACT website and will be available in paper 
form upon request.  Alerts regarding major changes in laws related to human resources will be provided 
as soon as practical. 

Assist members in adopting and implementing HR policies.  Upon request, POOL/PACT HR Business 
Partners will review proposed policies with key managers, assist in making adjustments to policies 
based upon input from managers and employee representatives, respond to questions, assist in 
presentation of policies for adoption by the governing board, and participate in sessions with managers 
to discuss implementation and administration of the policies. 

Facilitate training and round table discussion groups, as needed, for member staff assigned significant 
responsibilities for HR.  Each session will include a HR topic of current interest followed by discussion on 
the topic.  Also, other topics of interest to the group will be addressed by participants to share their 
practices and ideas.   

Maintain the library of 200 sample job descriptions, which will be reviewed periodically. 

Continue to Improve Use of 
Technology 

Maintain the human resources items on the POOL/PACT website with current versions of HR policies 
and related documents, job descriptions, quick references on a broad range of HR topics, and on-line 
training. 

Add HR trainings to POOL/PACT website calendar. 

Conduct three to six webinars per year as needed on a variety of subjects ranging from changes in 
regulations to new approaches to HR issues.   

Conduct HR Practices 
Assessments 

Offer HR Compliance Assessment Program to a minimum of ten members annually.  Assess core 
requirements and enhanced requirements. 

Develop and Deliver Client 
Service Plans 

Review member HR management policies and practices through an on-site visit.  The review will consist 
of an interview with the member’s management representative responsible for HR management and key 
administrators.  An annual service plan will be developed for each organization based upon the 
organization’s needs.  The focus of services will be based on the level of development of the member’s 
HR management program. 



3 
 

SERVICE DESCRIPTION OF SERVICE 
Maintain Sample HR Policies Maintain sample personnel policies for school districts, large organizations, small organization, and 

drug/alcohol policies for CDL holders.  All policies will be reviewed and updated annually, with 
immediate changes made if law or court decision necessitates.  Sample policies include all related 
forms, sample documents, and guidelines.   

Coaching and Problem 
Solving 

Provide telephone help-line assistance and related services to help resolve members’ human resources 
problems.  Provide assistance in identifying and locating resources, and assistance to members when a 
complaint is anticipated or filed, including providing coaching on appropriate approaches to initiating an 
administrative inquiry and related mitigation efforts. 

In the event that a complaint would likely result in legal action against a member, the member will be 
advised to consult with legal counsel.   

New Services FRISK documentation training. 

Develop and offer HR Assessment, Phase II. 

Create a database of collective bargaining concessions. 

Contract with labor expert to provide member training. 

Contract with labor expert for a reduced rate for members. 

Develop return to work briefing and sample program. 
Special Services for the  
Larger Members 

Work with representatives from larger employers to identify services that will meet the needs of large 
members.  Following POOL/PACT HR Oversight Committee concurrence, deliver or facilitate the 
delivery of the services to the extent that such services can reasonably and practically be provided 
within the scope and funding of the POOL/PACT HR services grant. 

Also conduct human resource customized workshops as needed that are member type specific. 
Special Services for 
Districts/Smaller 

Continue to monitor “like member” meetings for similar members (e.g., water districts, schools) to 
discuss common HR related issues. 

 



  

 
 

EXHIBIT B 
 

POOL/PACT GRANT GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 
 
 
1. Requirements: This Grant is subject to the laws and regulations of the State of Nevada. If any 
statute expressly prescribes policies or specific requirements that differ from the requirements, 
standards, provisions, or terms and conditions of this Grant, the provisions of the statute shall 
govern. 
 
2. Order of Precedence: Any inconsistency or conflict in the terms and conditions specified in 
this Grant shall be resolved according to the following order of precedence: 
The Grant Schedule 
These Terms and Conditions 
 
3. Grantee Responsibility: 
 
The Grantee has full responsibility for the services and activity supported by this Grant, in 
accordance with the Grantee's proposal (Exhibit A), and the terms and conditions specified in this 
Grant. Grantees are encouraged to suggest or propose to discontinue or modify unpromising 
services or to explore alternatives which may appear during the course of the grant. However, they 
must consult the Grants Officer’s Representative (GOR) through the Administrative Grants Office 
(AGO) before significantly deviating from the objectives or overall program originally proposed. 
The Grantee shall immediately notify the Grants Officer of developments that have a significant 
impact on the award-supported activities. Also, notification shall be given in the case of problems, 
delays, or adverse conditions which materially impair the ability to meet the objectives of the 
award. This notification shall include a statement of the action taken or contemplated, and any 
assistance needed to resolve the situation. 
 
4. Amendment of Grant: The only method by which this Grant can be amended is by a formal, 
written amendment signed by either the Grants Officer or the AGO. No other communications, 
whether oral or in writing, are valid. 
 
5. Standards for Financial Management Systems: The Grantee’s financial management system 
shall comply with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles for non-profit organizations. 
 
6. Payments 
 
Advance Payment Method. Upon acceptance of the terms and conditions of this Grant by the 
Grantee to the AGO, the Grantee shall be entitled to an initial advance payment covering work to 
be performed during the first month of the Grant (and any pre-award costs as applicable). 
Subsequent monthly payments will be made automatically at the end of each month after services 
are performed. 
 



  

7. Administration and Cost Principles: Applicable to this Grant are the following 
requirements:  
 
Prior Approvals: 
All prior approvals are waived hereby except for the following: 

a. Extension of the expiration period of this Grant. 
  b. The need for additional funding. 
 
Pre-award Costs: 

a. Grantees may incur pre-award costs of up to thirty (30) days prior to the effective date 
of the Grant award. 
b. Pre-award costs as incurred by the Grantee must be necessary for the effective and 
economical conduct of the project and the costs must be otherwise allowable in accordance 
with the appropriate cost principles. 
c. Any pre-award costs are made at the Grantee's risk. The incurring of pre-award costs by 
the Grantee does not impose any obligation on the Grantor, in the absence of 
appropriations, if an award is not subsequently made or if an award is made for a lesser 
amount than the Grantee expected. 

 
Audit and Access to Records: The Grantee and its sub recipients shall be subject to audit 
requirements for nonprofit organizations per Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. The 
GOR shall have direct access to sufficient records and information of the Grantee to ensure full 
accountability for grant funds.  
 
8. Property: 
 
Title to all nonexpendable and expendable tangible personal property purchased by the Grantee 
with grant funds shall be deemed to have vested in the Grantee upon purchase and shall be used 
for the conduct of services as described in Exhibit A of the Grant, unless stated otherwise in this 
Grant schedule.  Upon conclusion of the Grant and any extensions, all such property purchased 
with grant funds shall become the property of Grantor. 
 
Any disposal of property that results in net proceeds to Grantee will be retained by Grantee to 
further the purposes of the grant. 
 
9. Reports and Reports Distribution:  
Reports shall be furnished as specified below:  

a. Report Types. 
(1) Quarterly Status Report - This report, due 30 days after the reporting period, 
shall keep the Grantor informed of Grantee activity and progress toward 
accomplishment of Grant objectives. 

 
(2) Quarterly Financial Report – This report, due 30 days after the reporting period, 
shall including exhibits showing the financial standing of the Grantee, budget to 
actual income statements and other income and expense reports as necessary.  
 



  

(3) Annual Audit – this report due 90 days after completion of each fiscal year of 
the Grant, shall be submitted by the independent auditor who shall be a certified 
public accountant. 
 
(4) Final Financial Status Report - This report, due 90 days after completion of the 
Grant, shall be submitted by the independent auditor who shall be a certified public 
accountant. 
 

10. Termination and Enforcement: 
 
a. Termination. This Grant may be terminated, in whole or in part, by the Grantor upon 90 days 
notice if the Grantee materially fails to comply with these terms and conditions or with the 
consent of the Grantee. The Grantee may terminate the Grant upon sending 180 days written 
notification to the Grants Officer. 
 
b. Enforcement. If the Grantee fails to materially comply with these terms and conditions, the 
Grants Officer may impose special or take the appropriate action to initiate termination 
proceedings by Grantor. 
 
11. Disputes, Claims, and Appeals: 
 
a. Disputes and Claims. The Grantee may submit a claim arising out of or relating to the Grant by 
submitting the claim in writing to the Grants Officer for decision. The written submission must 
specify the nature and basis for the relief requested and include all data that supports the claim. 
Within 60 calendar days, the Grants Officer shall either prepare a written decision or notify the 
Grantee of a specific date when a decision will be rendered. The decision of the Grants Officer 
shall be final unless the Grantee decides to appeal. 
 
b. Appeals. The Grantee may appeal the Grants Officer decision by filing a written notice of 
appeal to the Grantor and the Grants Officer within 30 days of receiving the decision. The Grantor 
shall decide the appeal based solely on the written record unless the Grantor decides to conduct a 
fact-finding procedure or an oral hearing on the appeal. 
 
12. Acknowledgment of Sponsorship: 
 
The Grantee agrees that in the release of information relating to this Grant, such release shall 
include a statement to the effect that the project or effort depicted was or is sponsored by the 
Grantor. For the purpose of this article, information includes news releases, articles, manuscripts, 
brochures, advertisements, still and motion pictures, symposia, etc. 


	Joint Board Agenda 4-2012 
	JOINT BOARDS and EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES’ AGENDA
	JOINT BOARDS and EXECUTIVE COMMITTEES’ AGENDA
	NOTICE TO PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES


	#4 Investment Guidelines - PACT
	Securities purchased by the PACT will be held by a professionally qualified institution that has the necessary specialization to provide accurate and timely safekeeping of the assets of PACT.    If securities are purchased from outside dealers, then t...

	#4 Investment Guidelines-POOL
	Securities purchased by the POOL will be held by a professionally qualified institution that has the necessary specialization to provide accurate and timely safekeeping of the assets of POOL.    If securities are purchased from outside dealers, then t...

	#4 Money Management and Controls revised 3 1 2012
	#5 Joint Board Minutes 4-28 &29-11
	#5 Joint Executive Committee Minutes 3/16/12
	#5 Joint Executive Committee Minutes 8/23/11
	# 5 Audit Committee Minutes 1-17-12 
	#5 Audit Committee Minutes 12-29-11
	#5 HR Oversight Committee Minutes 3-23-12 
	#5  HR Oversight Committee Minutes 12/16/11
	#5 HR Oversight Committee Minutes 9/16/11
	#5 Loss Control Committee Minutes 3/8/12 
	#5 Loss Control Committee Minutes 1/24/12 
	#5 Loss Control Committee Minutes 7/22/11 
	#5 Loss Control Committee Minutes 6/21/11
	#6 Board Retreat Report
	#6 Strategic Plan Net Asset Change Tracking
	Sheet1

	#6 Strategic Plan-2009-2012 Progress
	Loss Control
	HR
	Claims
	Executive
	PARMS_Risk Mgmt.

	#6 Executive Director Report
	#7a Loss Control Strategic Plan 2012-15 (032812)
	POOL/PACT Loss Control 
	Mission and Vision 
	Voting Committee Members
	Voting Alternates:
	Strategies 2012-15
	�OSHA Compliance�
	�ADA Compliance�
	Claims Analysis/Benchmarking
	Formalized Injury Management
	Emergency Planning
	Wellness/Body Mechanics
	Enhance Member Communications
	Fleet/Driver Safety
	LCEP
	LCEP Recertifications
	LCEP Annual Continuation
	RM Grant Program
	Stryker Grant Program

	#7c Risk Management Grant Report
	#8a EAP Annual Report 2012
	#8b EAP Agreement 2012
	GENERAL CONDITIONS ADDENDUM
	DESCRIPTION OF EAP SERVICES ADDENDUM
	DESCRIPTION OF WORK/LIFE SERVICES ADDENDUM
	Legal and Financial Services
	Worklife Services, including Caregiving Services, Personal Services
	Training and Education Cancellation Fee
	Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM)/Critical Incident
	Critical Incident Stress Management (CISM)/Critical Incident Cancellation Fee
	Reduction in Force
	Reduction in Force Cancellation Fee
	4.  Obligations of Customer.   

	#9d PRI Grant 2012-15
	#9d PRI Grant Exhibit A Scope of Services FY12-13 to 14-15
	#9d PRI Grant Exhibit B 

	Agenda: 


